
  

TOWN OF STRATHAM 
INCORPORATED 1716 

 
10 BUNKER HILL AVENUE • STRATHAM NH 03885 

 
VOICE (603) 772-7391 • FAX (603) 775-0517 

 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 
 
TO:  Michael Houghton, Select Board Chair 
  Joseph Lovejoy, Select Board Vice-Chair 
  Allison Knab, Select Board 
 
FROM:  David Moore,  Town Administrator 
 
DATE:  July 29, 2021 
 
RE:  Select Board Agenda and Materials for the August 2, 2021 Regular Meeting 
 
Please allow this memorandum to serve as a guide to the Select Board Meeting agenda for 
August 2, 2021.   
 
III. Consideration of Minutes  
 
Draft minutes from your meeting on July 19, 2021 are included for your review. 
 
IV. Treasurer Report (first meeting of the month) 
 
V. Department Reports & Presentations 
 

A. Police Department – Police Chief Anthony King 
 
VI. Correspondence 

A. Rockingham County Letter – Approved fiscal year 2022 budget 
B. Correspondence Concerning Traffic Safety Concerns 

 
VII. Public Comment 
 
VIII. Public Hearings, Ordinances and/or Resolutions 
 
 A.  Public Hearing:  Comcast Cable Franchise Agreement Renewal   
 
IX. Discussion of Monthly Reports (second meeting of each month) 



 
X. New Business and Action Items 
 

A. CDC/ATSDR Pease Health Study – I will speak to the request of the PFAS study at 
Pease included in your packet. 

 
XI. Town Administrator Report 
 
I will present updates on Town business.  If you have any particular items of business you would 
like to make sure I am prepared to cover, please let me know.  We will also need a non-public 
session for this meeting.   
 
XII. Informational Items 

A.  Frequently Asked Questions: New discriminatory practice prohibitions applicable  
      to public employers and government programs 

        https://www.doj.nh.gov/civil-rights/documents/faq-public-government.pdf  
 
XIII. Reservations, Event Requests & Permits 

A.  Request from Cornerstone School for fee waiver.  The non-profit organization 
requests a waiver for their use of the Scamman Pavilion for one hour on each 
of the 13 weekdays requested in September and October (cross country practice dates). 

 
XIV. Review of Recent or Upcoming Board & Commissions Agendas 
 
XV. Boards and Commissions Nominations & Appointments 

A. Joe Johnson for nomination to the Rockingham Planning Commission for a two year  
    term expiring August 2023 

 
XVI. Miscellaneous & Old Business 

A. PFAS in Town Center 
B. Open Items Tracking 

 
XVII. Adjournment 
 

https://www.doj.nh.gov/civil-rights/documents/faq-public-government.pdf


TOWN OF STRATHAM 
INCORPORATED 1716 

 
10 BUNKER HILL AVENUE • STRATHAM NH 03885 

 
VOICE (603) 772-7391 • FAX (603) 775-0517 

 

 

The Select Board reserves the right to take up business in any order deemed appropriate by the Chair.  A motion to 
enter Non-Public Session in accordance with RSA 91-A:3 may occur at any time during the meeting.  Submission of 
items to be placed on the Agenda must be to the Town Administrator by 4 pm the Wednesday before the scheduled 
meeting. 

SELECT BOARD AGENDA 
AUGUST 2, 2021 

 
6:30 p.m. – non-public session in accordance with RSA 91-A 

 
7:00 P.M. – regular meeting 

 
Hutton Room, Stratham Municipal Center 

10 Bunker Hill Avenue- Stratham, NH 03885 
 
This meeting of the Select Board will be held in the Hutton Room of the Stratham 
Municipal Center 
 
The public may access this meeting at the date and time above using this conference call 
information.  Please dial the conference number (877) 205 7349 and input 2254 when prompted 
for a user pin/code. 
 
If at any time during the meeting you have difficulty hearing the proceedings, please e-mail 
dmoore@strathamnh.gov. 
 
To access materials related to this meeting, please see this link: 
https://www.strathamnh.gov/select-board 
 
I. Call to order 
 
II. Roll Call 
 
III. Consideration of Minutes – July 19, 2021 
 
IV. Treasurer Report (first meeting of the month) 
  
V. Department Reports & Presentations  
 A.  Police Department - Police Chief Anthony King 
 
VI. Correspondence 

A. Rockingham County Letter - Approved fiscal year 2022 budget 
B. Correspondence Concerning Traffic Safety Concerns 

 
VII. Public Comment 
 

https://www.strathamnh.gov/select-board


TOWN OF STRATHAM 
INCORPORATED 1716 

 
10 BUNKER HILL AVENUE • STRATHAM NH 03885 

 
VOICE (603) 772-7391 • FAX (603) 775-0517 

 

 
VIII. Public Hearings, Ordinances and/or Resolutions 
 A.  Public Hearing:  Comcast Cable Franchise Agreement Renewal 
 
IX. Discussion of Monthly Reports – (second meeting of the Month)  
 
X. New Business and Action Items 
 A.  CDC/ATSDR Pease Health Study Request (enclosed) 
 
XI. Town Administrator Report 
  
XII. Informational Items 

A.  Frequently Asked Questions: New discriminatory practice prohibitions applicable  
      to public employers and government programs 

        https://www.doj.nh.gov/civil-rights/documents/faq-public-government.pdf  
 
XIII. Reservations, Event Requests & Permits 

A.  Cornerstone School request for fee waiver. 
 
XIV. Review of Recent or Upcoming Board & Commissions Agendas 
 
XV.  Boards and Commissions Nominations & Appointments 

A. Joe Johnson for appointment to the Rockingham Planning Commission for a two  
year term expiring August 2023 (this is not placed for consideration, because this 
a nomination from Planning Board as required in State law for RPC 
appointments). 

 
XVI. Miscellaneous & Old Business 

A. PFAS in Town Center 
B. Open Items Tracking 

 
XVII. Adjournment 

https://www.doj.nh.gov/civil-rights/documents/faq-public-government.pdf


MINUTES OF THE JULY 19, 2021 SELECT BOARD MEETING 
Meeting held in the Hutton Room at the Stratham Municipal Center 
 
MEMBERS PRESENT:  Board Members Chair Mike Houghton, and Vice Chair Joe Lovejoy 
 
ALSO PRESENT: Town Administrator David Moore Officer Ken Gauthier, Town Planner Mark 
Connors, CEO/BI/HO Shanti Wolph and Lamprey Coop Chair Paul Deschaine.              
 
At 7:00 pm Mr. Houghton opened the regular meeting.   
 
Mr. Houghton asked if there were any comments on the draft minutes.  Mr. Lovejoy motioned to 
approve the July 6, 2021 minutes as presented.  Mr. Houghton seconded the motion. 
 
Mr. Houghton recognized Officer Ken Gauthier.  He then swore him in as a full time police 
officer.   The Board, Officer Gauthier’s family, and the various members of the Police 
Department documented the occasion with pictures. 
 
Mr. Houghton opened the Public Hearing to accept the donation of up to $35,000 from the 
Seacoast VeloKids.  Mr. Lovejoy seconded the motion.  All voted in favor.  Mr. Houghton asked 
for comments from the public.  Hearing none, Mr. Houghton closed the Public Hearing.  Mr. 
Lovejoy seconded the motion.  All voted in favor.  Mr. Lovejoy motioned to accept the donation 
of up to $35,000 from Seacoast VeloKids for the purpose of renovating the pump track.  Ms. 
Knab seconded the motion.  All voted in favor. 
 
Mr. Houghton recognized Town Planner Mark Connors.  Mr. Connors reported on the zoning 
amendments the Planning Board is preparing to be voted on for the next election.  Focus is on 
the Rt 33 heritage district rezoning and changes to the flexible mixed use district (former 
technical school).  The Board had expressed interest in redevelopment of that site.  If changes to 
the rezoning passes, there are incentives that could spur projects there.  
 
Referring to his handout, Mr. Connors reviewed the proposed changes to the zoning 
amendments.  Some of the proposed changes adjust our incentives for the projects we, as a 
Town, desire; they tighten up some regulations; adjust for minor inconsistencies; update and 
clarify some of the ordinances.   
 
Next Mr. Connors discussed the NHDOT 10 year plan.  Currently, our only project is the Rt 108 
/ Bunker Hill intersection.  Factors have lead Mr. Connors to believe this project’s timeline could 
begin sooner than the 2027 date.  Mr. Connors expressed interest in what the townspeople view 
as transportation priorities.  Other possible projects to advocate for would be improvements to 
the Marin Way intersection and Exit 12 off ramps (technically in Exeter) or the corridor plan for 
Rt. 33.  We could partner with Greenland and possibly Portsmouth.  The State tends to support 
towns working collaboratively. 
 
 
Ms. Knab asked questions about process of the NHDOT plan and noted that the PCAC has 
researched roads where bike lanes would be beneficial.  Mr. Houghton emphasized creating an 



Select Board Meeting July 19, 2021 Page 2 of 6 

online resource where residents could find more information about the current Long Range 
Transportation Plan and other projects.  Mr. Connors will be following up in coordination with 
Planning Board to further discern priorities, including some community outreach. 
 
Lastly, Mr. Connors advised the Board of a multi-family residential project at the southern end 
of Portsmouth Ave corridor.  The project will be coming to the Planning Board in the fall.   
 
Building Inspector/Code Enforcement Officer/Health Officer Shanti Wolph updated the Board 
on the status of Covid as it relates to town activities.  As Health Officer, he has recently 
performed inspections on a couple of restaurants and daycares.   
 
As Code Enforcement Officer, he’s encountered two different properties with the same issue – a 
pool and deck on the abutters’ property.  He has worked with the homeowners on resolutions. 
 
Regarding previous on street parking concerns, he has worked with the business owner and there 
haven’t been any recent complaints. 
 
Mr. Wolph occasionally receives complaints about wetlands disturbances.  Most of the time the 
people are unaware that there are regulations that must be followed regarding wetlands.  Once 
they are made aware, they cease what they are doing.  
 
Mr. Wolph discovered some contractors performing work without a permit.  There were a couple 
of instances where he discovered a plumber and electrician working without a license.  That is a 
misdemeanor; he is follow-up in coordination with the relative licensing Boards and law 
enforcement. 
 
Mr. Wolph has received complaints about unkempt property.  He is working with the property 
owner to clean up.  The risk associated with storage of uninspected vehicles which rust and 
deteriorate, is that fluids can go into ground.  It then becomes an environmental issue. 
 
Mr. Wolph continued his report, saying building activity has surpassed last year by 67 projects, 
however, they are of a smaller scale and the revenues are under last years, but still on track with 
the budget.  He is working with Mr. Connors on zoning interpretations that are informing that list 
of Planning Board zoning amendments under consideration.   
 
Regarding the PFAS issue, he is working with our contractor to install filtration systems in the 
affected homes.  All but two have received site visits.  As soon as next week we hope to move 
ahead with installations.  The Building Dept. will continue to track all aspects of the mitigation 
in our computer system and in paper files.  
 
The Zoning Board of Adjustment received two applications. 
 
Significant ongoing projects are the Cooperative Middle School, SPCA, and Burger King.  Mr. 
Wolph asked for the Board’s support in issuing a temporary occupancy permit for Burger King.  
They are waiting on materials for the roof, but the roof is watertight.  The Board understands the 
supply chain issues and supports issuing a temporary occupancy permit.   



Select Board Meeting July 19, 2021 Page 3 of 6 

 
Regarding residential projects, the Rollins Farm development, which has been going on for over 
3 years, is almost complete.  Treat Farm, a 14 home subdivision, has only two more homes to be 
built before it is completed.   
 

Second Quarter Statistics 
(April, May, June) 

 
 2021 2020 
New Projects 231 164 
Permits 360 298 
Inspections 451 397 
Permit Fees  $58,218 $91,579 
Fees to date (Jan. till now) $118,745 $155,467 
Budget Spending 36.67% 43.47% 

 
He listed the classes he’s recently completed to maintain his certifications.  
 
Mr. Wolph obtained estimates for renovating the assessor space in order to provide easier access 
for the public to the town planner, achieve space efficiencies and improve office space for 
Recreation Department 
 
Mr. Wolph wanted to make the Board aware that with no one at the Assessing desk and when 
Building Coordinator Denise Lemire was on vacation, it was extremely difficult to not have 
someone be able to fill in that position.  Service to the public was significantly compromised.  
He is recommending, if it is in the budget, that a part-time Land Use Assistant be hired once 
again.  Filling in, not only for vacation, but for breaks and lunch would be very helpful. 
 
Mr. Wolph talked briefly about the need to put in place annual inspections for commercial 
properties in coordination with the Fire Dept.   
 
Next, he discussed the need for new building permitting software.  There is some money in the 
CIP for it, but not enough.  Some communities have used the ARPA funds for new software.  He 
demonstrated one of the software programs and detailed the many ways it would streamline the 
department’s duties.  There was discussion about the transference of records and lack of 
assessing capabilities.  Mr. Wolph discussed the limitations of Avitar, which they currently use.  
Avitar is not compatible with other programs.  Mr. Wolph will continue to research other 
options.  After obtaining pricing estimates, he will come back to the board.   
 
Mr. Moore wanted to acknowledge the good work Mr. Wolph has done to advance PFAS 
remediation. 
 
Mr. Houghton recognized Paul Deschaine, who is the Town’s representative to the Lamprey 
Regional Cooperative and current chair.  Mr. Deschaine gave a brief history of the Cooperative.  
In the 1970’s when the EPA began closing down openly burning dumps, the Town needed to 



Select Board Meeting July 19, 2021 Page 4 of 6 

find an alternative.  In 1978, 13 communities around the Seacoast area banded together to 
develop a plan in cooperation with UNH to build an incinerator on the UNH campus next to their 
heating plant.  The idea was to send our garbage there where it would be incinerated, create 
steam, be sent to the heating plant and then be used to heat the university at no cost.  That 
worked well for many years.  When you burn something you create ash.  What to do with it?  
With DES’s initial blessing, the agreement was that if you took a truck of garbage to the 
incinerator, you took a truck of ash back to your own town’s landfill.  This was a common 
practice.  Eventually, it was determined that that was not an appropriate way to dispose of the 
ash.  Simultaneously, the City of Somersworth built a sewage treatment plant which was 
generating sludge, causing a disposal issue for the City.  Sludge is watery, and ash can act as a 
stabilizer.  A cooperative agreement with Somersworth (also a member of the Cooperative) and 
the Cooperative was created and a monofill was created behind the sewage treatment plant by the 
Bellamy River.  This arrangement worked well for a long time.  In 1995, UNH didn’t renew the 
lease; they dismantled the incinerator.  In 1996, we closed the landfill completely.  Mr. 
Deschaine explained the mechanics of the closed landfill and leachate collection system.  Its 
capacity was much greater than was necessary (because it was sized to operate a larger landfill 
than was ultimately needed due to the termination of the UNH lease).  This caused a problem 
with the meter system and made it difficult to measure amount of flow.   
 
Once the landfill was closed, responsibilities remained.  Mr. Deschaine detailed many items that 
required ongoing maintenance, such as groundwater testing, site monitoring, permit compliance, 
etc.  One company was hired to handle operations and another to handle management of these 
items, both on a continual basis.  In December, the company submitted a report noting there were 
issues that needed attention and the Coop through its Chair and Executive Committee are 
following-up on those issues.  In June, the management company gave notice that they would no 
longer be able to service the Cooperative.  The Coop Board is looking for a company to take 
over the accounting and organizational aspects.   
 
It’s been at least 20 years since the creation of the lease agreement between the Cooperative and 
Somersworth.  Mr. Deschaine drafted a renewal of the contract.  It is now with the City of 
Somersworth.  It will be a perpetual responsibility of the Cooperative members.   
 
Mr. Houghton thanked Mr. Deschaine.     
 
Mr. Moore asked about the next step to resolve the technical issues.  Mr. Deschaine replied that 
CMA Engineering is under contract to do this.   
 
Mr. Houghton turned attention to the Public Service Agency Grants.  Mr. Moore explained that 
occasionally we receive a question from a non-profit as to how they may obtain town funding.  
He is suggesting adopting a policy to formalize the steps for running the program as well as 
documenting the past practice with regard to adding agencies (via a vote by the Town meeting 
following a petition).  Mr. Houghton made a motion to adopt the policy on public service 
agencies annual appropriations as documented in the memo from the Town Administrator dated 
July 7, 2021.  Ms. Knab seconded the motion.  All voted in favor. 
 



Select Board Meeting July 19, 2021 Page 5 of 6 

Next, Mr. Houghton addressed the Stratham Welfare Guidelines.  Mr. Moore said that Welfare 
Administrator Karen Richard recommends adopting the updated document.  Mr. Moore 
recognized Ms. Richard for her efforts to track developments in the Welfare field as well as 
maintain her knowledge of the network of agencies that assist residents in need.  This work to 
stay abreast of developments in the field ensures we effectively serve residents facing hardship, 
but also reserves our welfare budget for services and that can otherwise be provided.  Ms. Knab 
motioned to adopt the 2021 Welfare Guidelines as written by the NH Municipal Association.  
Mr. Lovejoy seconded the motion.  All voted in favor.   
 
Mr. Moore reported on the municipal center roof repair project.  A request for proposals was 
issued; three companies responded.  Funds in Grounds Maintenance Trust are sufficient to cover 
the work.  Mr. Houghton motioned to release the funds for the municipal center roof repairs and 
authorize the Town Administrator to execute an agreement with Brad Jones Roofing.  Mr. 
Lovejoy seconded the motion.  Ms. Knab noticed structural engineering was included in one 
proposal, but not the other.  There was discussion about the chimney, which has been capped.  
Mr. Moore indicated he would revisit this scope item with Mr. Mears.  All voted in favor. 
 
TOWN ADMINISTRATION 
Mr. Moore reported that he had received an inquiry regarding the renaming of Room A after a 
resident. He received positive preliminary feedback from the Board and said he would urge 
inquirer to move forward with the formal application process outlined in the Select Board’s 
policy manual.  
Mr. Moore said that the Hebert’s attorney is requesting a meeting with the Select Board in order 
to gain the Board’s cooperation in obtaining an alternative access to the property they have under 
agreement.  The property has a right of way, but it is unbuildable.  The Board reviewed its 
discussion at the meeting at which it met with the couple and felt there was no need to revisit the 
issue based on the request.   
 
On Wednesday evening, the Planning Board will consider the nomination of Joe Johnson to the 
Rockingham Planning Commission.  That nomination comes back to the Select Board for a vote. 
 
Mr. Moore indicated that he had received a letter with visuals from the Tom and Heidi Shealy’s, 
34 Stratham Heights Rd, who are concerned about drainage coming off of the road to their 
property.  They have not had resolved their issue after meeting with Mr. Mears and asked for 
additional attention to the issue.  Mr. Moore indicated that he is working with Mr. Mears and 
requested the involvement of a Board member.  Mr. Lovejoy indicated he is willing to assist.   
The Energy Commission met last week.  Mr. Mears attended.  Mr. Moore stated that they had 
good collaboration as they discussed town projects in the CIP.  Another initiative being 
undertaken is collecting information from utilities, inputting it into an energy software.  Finance 
Administrator Dawna Duhamel and Energy Commission member Matt O’Keefe are working on 
it.  In addition, the committee is engaged with JB Branahan who worked on the LED street light 
conversion in town.  Committee is also re-engaging on financial performance of the solar array, 
which appears to be very good.   
 
Mr.  Moore moved to the donation form from the Police Department, which is submitted to the 
Board’s approval under the donation policy.  The donation of $3,500 is from Lee Paladino and 



Select Board Meeting July 19, 2021 Page 6 of 6 

Mark Stevens Business / George Conway for National Night Out.  Mr. Houghton motioned to 
accept the donation from Lee Paladino and Mark Stevens Business / George Conway.  Mr. 
Lovejoy seconded the motion.  All voted in favor. 
 
Mr. Moore said the cable franchise agreement is moving forward, with a Public Hearing 
scheduled for August 2nd.  The Town’s 00attorney will be present.  
 
RESERVATIONS/PERMITS 
John Bendezu is requesting a fireworks permit.  Mr. Moore obtained conditional approval from 
the Fire and Police Chiefs provided that the display only be held during blue or green fire danger 
days.  Ms. Knab requested we include a reminder about the noise ordinance.  Ms. Knab motioned 
to approve the fireworks permit request.  Mr. Lovejoy seconded the motion.  All voted in favor. 
 
Richie McFarland Children’s Center, a non-profit service provider, requested to use Room A for 
a meeting and to have the fee waived.  Mr. Lovejoy motioned to approve the request.  Ms. Knab 
seconded the motion.  All voted in favor. 
 
There was a request to waive the alcohol prohibition for a previously approved Room A 
reservation request.  Ms. Knab motioned to approve.  Mr. Houghton seconded the motion.  All 
voted in favor. 
 
Mr. Moore stated that the Town Assessor recommended approval of the following two Veteran’s 
Credits:  John Money, Map 3 Lot 50 and Christy Money, Map 3 Lot 50.  Mr. Houghton 
motioned to approve the veteran’s credits.  Ms. Knab seconded the motion.  All voted in favor. 
 
 
 
At 9:26 pm Mr. Houghton made a motion to go into a non-public session per RSA 91-A:3, II(a) 
Personnel.  Seconded by Mr. Lovejoy.  Roll call:  Houghton – yes, Lovejoy – yes, Knab – yes.   
 
At 10:16 p.m. the Board resumed its public session and Mr. Houghton moved to seal the minutes 
noting that failure to do so would render a proposed action ineffective. 
 
Vice Chair Lovejoy moved to adjourn the meeting.  Ms. Knab seconded the motion; all voted in 
favor. 
 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
Karen Richard 
Recording Secretary 
 
.   
 

































LEGAL NOTICE
PUBLIC HEARING NOTICE:

COMCAST CABLE FRANCHISE AGREE-
MENT RENEWAL

As part of the cable franchise renewal proceed-
ings between the Town of Stratham and Com-
cast of Connecticut/Georgia/Massachusetts /
New Hampshire / New York / North Carolina /
Virginia / Vermont, LLC (“Comcast”) pursuant
to NH RSA 53-C: 3-a, the Stratham Select
Board will hold a public hearing on the propos-
al for renewal of the cable television franchise
agreement

Monday, August 2, 2021*
7:00 PM

Stratham Municipal Center
10 Bunker Hill Avenue, Stratham, NH

The proposed cable television franchise renew-
al agreement is available for review at the
Town Office, at 10 Bunker Hill Ave., Stratham,
NH from 8:00 AM – 4:00 PM, Monday through
Friday and at the Town’s website: www.strath-
amnh.org.  If you need assistance, please call
772-7391 ext. 187.

*If necessary, continuation of this Public
Hearing will be Monday, August 16, 2021

July 19, 2021



 

 

 

RENEWAL  
CABLE TELEVISION FRANCHISE AGREEMENT 

BETWEEN THE 
TOWN OF STRATHAM, NEW HAMPSHIRE  

AND 
COMCAST OF MAINE/NEW HAMPSHIRE, INC. 



 

i 

 

ARTICLE 1 -DEFINITIONS ..................................................................................................................................... 2 
SECTION 1.1 – DEFINITIONS ............................................................................................................................ 2 
 

ARTICLE 2 - GRANT OF FRANCHISE ................................................................................................................. 7 
SECTION 2.1 - GRANT OF FRANCHISE ........................................................................................................... 7 
SECTION 2.2 - TERM .......................................................................................................................................... 8 
SECTION 2.3 - RENEWAL OF FRANCHISE ..................................................................................................... 8 
SECTION 2.4 – FRANCHISE FEE ....................................................................................................................... 8 
SECTION 2.5 - TRANSFER OR ASSIGNMENT ................................................................................................ 9 
SECTION 2.6 - EQUAL PROTECTION PROVISION [SEE RSA 53-C:3-B] .................................................... 10 
SECTION 2.7 - RESERVATION OF AUTHORITY .......................................................................................... 11 
SECTION 2.8 - POLE ATTACHMENT RIGHTS .............................................................................................. 12 
SECTION 2.9 - POLICE AND REGULATORY POWERS ............................................................................... 13 

ARTICLE 3 - SYSTEM SPECIFICATIONS AND CONSTRUCTION .............................................................. 14 
SECTION 3.1 - SERVICE AREA; LINE EXTENSIONS ................................................................................... 14 
SECTION 3.2 – SUBSCRIBER CONNECTION ................................................................................................ 14 
SECTION 3.3 – CABLE SYSTEM ..................................................................................................................... 15 
SECTION 3.4 - CONSTRUCTION ..................................................................................................................... 15 
SECTION 3.5 - PARENTAL CONTROL CAPABILITY ................................................................................... 16 
SECTION 3.6 – PEG ACCESS PROGRAMMING ............................................................................................ 16 
SECTION 3.7 – LIVE PEG ACCESS CABLECASTING ................................................................................... 18 
SECTION 3.8 - PROGRAMMING EXCLUSIVITY AND NON-COMPETITION ........................................... 19 
SECTION 3.9 – INTERCONNECTION WITH COMPETING CABLE FRANCHISEE ................................... 19 
SECTION 3.10 – FRANCHISE RELATED COST ............................................................................................. 20 
SECTION 3.11 - EMERGENCY OVERRIDE .................................................................................................... 20 
SECTION 3.12 - DELIVERY OF SIGNALS ...................................................................................................... 20 
SECTION 3.13 - LEASED ACCESS CHANNELS ............................................................................................ 20 
SECTION 3.14 - MUNICIPAL CABLE DROPS TO CABLE SYSTEM ............................................................ 21 

ARTICLE 4 - TECHNOLOGICAL AND SAFETY STANDARDS ..................................................................... 22 
SECTION 4.1 - SYSTEM MAINTENANCE ...................................................................................................... 22 
SECTION 4.2 - REPAIRS AND RESTORATION ............................................................................................. 23 
SECTION 4.3 - CABLE LOCATION ................................................................................................................. 25 
SECTION 4.4 - TREE TRIMMING .................................................................................................................... 25 
SECTION 4.5 - STRAND MAPS ........................................................................................................................ 26 
SECTION 4.6 - EMERGENCY POWER ............................................................................................................ 26 
SECTION 4.7 - RESIDENTIAL EXTERIOR WIRING ...................................................................................... 26 
SECTION 4.8 - BUILDING MOVES ................................................................................................................. 26 
SECTION 4.9 - DIG SAFE .................................................................................................................................. 26 

ARTICLE 5 - CUSTOMER SERVICE, MARKETING OF SERVICES AND CONSUMER PROTECTION...27 
SECTION 5.1 - CUSTOMER SERVICE ............................................................................................................ 27 
SECTION 5.2 - TERMINATION OF SERVICE ................................................................................................. 28 
SECTION 5.3 - SERVICE INTERRUPTIONS ................................................................................................... 28 
SECTION 5.4 - IDENTIFICATION .................................................................................................................... 28 
SECTION 5.5 - SUBSCRIBER PRIVACY AND RIGHTS TO INFORMATION .............................................. 29 

ARTICLE 6 - RATES AND CHARGES ................................................................................................................. 30 



 

ii 

 

SECTION 6.1 - RATES AND CHARGES .......................................................................................................... 30 

ARTICLE 7 - REGULATORY OVERSIGHT ....................................................................................................... 31 
SECTION 7.1 - INDEMNIFICATION ................................................................................................................ 31 
SECTION 7.2 - INSURANCE ............................................................................................................................. 31 
SECTION 7.3 - REPORTS .................................................................................................................................. 33 
SECTION 7.4 - PERFORMANCE BOND .......................................................................................................... 33 
SECTION 7.5 - NOTICE OF OPPORTUNITY TO CURE ................................................................................. 34 
SECTION 7.6 - REVOCATION OF FRANCHISE; DEFAULT ......................................................................... 35 
SECTION 7.7 – REMOVAL OF SYSTEM OPEN .............................................................................................. 36 
SECTION 7.8 - INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE ..................................................................................... 36 
SECTION 7.9 - EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY ............................................................................. 36 

ARTICLE 8 - MISCELLANEOUS ......................................................................................................................... 37 
SECTION 8.1 - SEVERABILITY ....................................................................................................................... 37 
SECTION 8.2 - FORCE MAJEURE ................................................................................................................... 37 
SECTION 8.3 - NOTICES ................................................................................................................................... 37 
SECTION 8.4 - AMENDMENT OF MODIFICATION ...................................................................................... 38 
SECTION 8.5 - DELEGATION .......................................................................................................................... 38 
SECTION 8.6 – CHOICE OF FORUM/JURISDICTION AND CHOICE OF LAW .......................................... 38 
SECTION 8.7 -FINAL AGREEMENT ............................................................................................................... 39 

EXHIBIT A - CHANNEL OFFERINGS ................................................................................................................ 41 

EXHIBIT B - CUSTOMER SERVICE REGULATIONS ..................................................................................... 42 

EXHIBIT C - PRIVACY LAWS ............................................................................................................................. 46 

EXHIBIT D - CURRENT SCHEDULE OF RATES AND CHARGES ............................................................... 49 

EXHIBIT E - FORM OF ANNUAL REPORT ...................................................................................................... 50 

  

 

  

 



 

1 

 

RENEWAL CABLE TELEVISION FRANCHISE AGREEMENT 
BETWEEN THE 

TOWN OF STRATHAM, NEW HAMPSHIRE AND 
COMCAST OF 

MAINE/NEW HAMPSHIRE, INC. 

WHEREAS, Comcast of Maine/New Hampshire, Inc. (hereinafter "Comcast" or "Franchisee") is 

the duly authorized holder of a Franchise to operate a Cable Television System in the Town of Stratham 

(hereinafter "Town"), said Franchise having originally been granted to Continental Cablevision of New 

England, Inc. on June 28, 1994 and said Franchise having been transferred to Comcast; and 

WHEREAS, Comcast filed a request for a renewal of its Franchise by letter in conformity with the 

Cable Communications Policy Act of 1984, as amended (the Cable Act); and 

WHEREAS, Comcast and the Town executed a One Year Extension Agreement extending the 

2014 - 2019 Cable Television Franchise Agreement for a one year period from September 8, 2019 until 

September 7, 2020; and 

WHEREAS, Comcast and the Town executed a second One year Extension Agreement extending 

the 2014 - 2019 Cable Television Franchise Agreement for a second one-year period from September 8, 

2020 until September 7, 2021; and 

WHEREAS, the Town ascertained the cable-related needs and interests of the community with a 

public hearing on August 2, 2021; and 

WHEREAS, there has been an opportunity for public comment, as described by Section 626(h) of 

the Cable Act; and 

WHEREAS, the Selectboard, as the Franchising Authority, finds that the renewal of Comcast's 

Franchise is appropriate in light of its past performance, compliance with the terms of its existing 

Franchise, and based on the Board's finding that the terms contained in Comcast's request for Franchise 

renewal meet the future cable-related needs of the Town of Stratham; and 

WHEREAS, the Selectboard has determined that the services and Programming of such a 

Franchise can contribute significantly to the cable television needs and interests of the Town and its 

residents and institutions; 

NOW THEREFORE, after due and full consideration, the Selectboard and Comcast agree that this 

Franchise Agreement is issued upon the following terms and conditions: 



 

2 

 

ARTICLE 1 -DEFINITIONS 

SECTION 1.1 – DEFINITIONS 

The following terms used in this Franchise shall have the following meanings: 

(a) Access Channel: A Channel or Channels for the purpose of transmitting public, educational, 

and governmental ("PEG") Access Programming. 

(b) Access Programming or PEG Access Programming: (i) "Educational": Non-commercial 

locally produced Programming, produced by Town of Stratham Public Schools, or other educational 

organizations as designated by the Franchising Authority and other non-commercial educational 

Programming offered by them; (ii) "Governmental": Non-commercial Programming produced by Town of 

Stratham departments or agencies and other non-commercial Programming offered by them or a duly 

authorized designee; (iii) "Public": Non-commercial Programming produced by the Town, or produced by 

an access corporation or nonprofit corporation operating within the Town and other non-commercial 

Programming. 

(c) Affiliate or Affiliated Person:  When used in relation to any person, another person who owns 

or controls, is owned or controlled by, or is under common ownership or control with, such person. 

(d) Basic Service:  Shall mean the lowest tier of Cable Service, which includes the retransmission 

of local television broadcast signals as well as the PEG Channels required by this Franchise. 

(e) Cable Act: Cable Communications Policy Act of 1984, Public Law No. 98-549, 98 Stat. 2779 

(1984), 47 U.S.C. 521 et seq., amending the Communications Act of 1934, as further amended by the 

1992 Cable Consumer Protection and Competition Act, Public Law No. 102-385 and the 

Telecommunications Act of 1996, Public Law No. 104-458, 110 Stat. 56 (1996). 

(f) Cable Service or Service: The one way transmission to Subscribers of (i) Video 

Programming, and, (ii) other Programming service, and Subscriber interaction, if any, which is required 

for the selection or use of such Video Programming or other Programming service which the Franchisee 

may make available to all Subscribers generally. 



 

3 

 

(g) Cable Television System or Cable System: A facility consisting of a set of closed 

transmission paths and associated Signal generation, reception, and control equipment that is designed to 

provide Cable Service which includes Video Programming and which is provided to multiple Subscribers 

within a community, but such term does not include: 

A.  a facility that services only to retransmit the television Signals of one or more television 

Broadcast stations; 

B. a  facility that services Subscribers without using any public right-of-way; 

C. a facility of a common carrier which is subject, in whole or in part, to the provisions of title 

II of the Communications Act, as amended, except that such facility shall be considered a 

Cable System to the extent such facility is used in the transmission of Video Programming 

directly to Subscribers, unless the extent of such use is solely to provide interactive on 

demand services; 

D. an open video system that complies with Section 653 of the Communications Act; or 

E. any facilities of any electric utility used solely for operating its electric utility systems. 

(h) Channel: a portion of the electromagnetic frequency spectrum which is used in a Cable 

System and which is capable of delivering a television channel. 

(i) Converter: Any device changing the frequency of a Signal. A Subscriber Converter may 

expand reception capacity and/or unscramble coded Signals distributed over the Cable System. 

(j) Drop: The coaxial cable that connects a home or building to the Feeder Cable of the Cable  

System. 

(k) Effective Date:  September 7, 2021. 

(l) FCC: Federal Communications Commission or any successor governmental entity. 

(m) Feeder Cable: The cable, connected to the trunk cable, from which Cable Service is 

distributed to multiple Subscribers, as distinguished from the trunk cable (which distributes Cable Service 

throughout the Franchise area). 

(n) Franchisee: Comcast, or any successor or transferee in accordance with the terms and 

conditions in this Franchise Agreement. 

(o) Franchise or Franchise Agreement or Renewal Franchise: The Franchise granted herein and 



 

4 

 

any amendments or modifications in accordance with the terms herein. 

(p) Franchise Fee: The payments to be made to the Franchise Authority or other governmental 

entity as designated by the Franchising Authority as consideration for the renewal Franchise granted 

herein which shall have the meaning set forth in Section 622 (g) of the Cable Act, 47 U.S. C. § 542. 

(q) Franchisor or Franchising Authority: The Selectboard of the Town of Stratham, New 

Hampshire, or its designee, in accordance with applicable Federal and State law. 

(r) Gross Annual Revenues: Revenue received by the Franchisee as calculated in accordance 

with generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) from the operation of the Cable Television 

System for the provision of Cable Service(s) over the Cable Television System including, without 

limitations: the distribution of any Service over the Cable System; Basic Service monthly fees and all 

other service fees; any and all Cable Services fees and/or charges received from Subscribers; installation, 

reconnection, downgrade, upgrade and any similar charges; interest collected on Subscriber fees and/or 

charges; fees paid on all Subscriber fees; all Commercial Subscriber revenues on a pro-rata basis; fees 

paid for Channels designated for commercial uses; home-shopping revenues on a pro-rata basis; 

Converter, remote control and other cable-related equipment rentals and/or leases or sales; and advertising 

revenues. In the event that an Affiliate and/or any other Person is responsible for advertising, the revenues 

shall be deemed to be the pro-rata portion of advertising revenues, paid to the Franchisee by an Affiliate 

or such other Person for said Affiliate’s or other Person’s use of the Cable Television System for the 

carriage of advertising. Gross Annual Revenues shall also include the Gross Annual Revenue of any other 

Person which is received directly or indirectly from or in connection with the operation of the Cable 

System to the extent that said revenue is derived through a means which has the effect of avoiding the 

payment of Franchise Fees to the Town that would otherwise be paid herein. It is the intention of the 

parties hereto that Gross Annual Revenues shall only include such consideration of Affiliates and/or 

Persons relating to Signal carriage over the Cable System and not the gross revenues of any such 

Affiliate(s) and/or Person(s) itself, where unrelated to such Signal carriage. Gross Annual Revenues shall 

not include actual bad debt that is written off, consistent with generally accepted accounting principles 

(”GAAP”); provided, however, that all or any part of any such actual bad debt that is written off, but 

subsequently collected, shall be included in Gross Annual Revenues in the period so collected. 



 

5 

 

(s) Leased Channel or Leased Access: A Channel which the Franchisee shall make available 

pursuant to Section 612 of the Cable Act. 

(t) Outlet: An interior receptacle that connects a television set to the Cable System. 

(u) Pay Cable or Pay Cable Services: Programming delivered for a fee or charge to Subscribers 

on a per Channel basis, in addition to the fee or charge for the Basic Service. 

(v) Pay-Per-View: Programming delivered for a fee or charge to Subscribers on a per program 

basis, in addition to the charge or fee to Subscribers for Basic Service. 

(w) Person:  Any corporation, partnership, limited partnership, association, trust, organization, 

other business entity, individual or group of individuals acting in concert. 

(x) Public or Municipal Building:  Those buildings owned or leased by the Franchising 

Authority for municipal government administrative purposes, but shall not include buildings owned by the 

Franchising Authority and leased to third parties or buildings such as storage facilities at which 

government employees are not regularly stationed.  

(y) Public Way:  The surface of, and the space above and below, any public street, highway, 

freeway, bridge, land path, alley, court, boulevard, sidewalk, parkway, way, lane, Public Way, drive, 

circle, or other public right of way, including, but not limited to public utility easements (except those 

owned by the Town), dedicated utility strips or rights of way dedicated for compatible uses and any 

temporary or permanent fixtures or improvements located thereon now or thereafter held by the 

Franchising Authority and the Franchisee for the purpose of installing, operating, repairing and 

maintaining the Cable System. Public way shall also mean any easement now or hereafter held by the 

Franchising Authority within the service area for the purpose of public travel, or for compatible uses, and 

shall include other easements or rights of way and shall, within their proper use and meaning, entitle the 

Franchising Authority and the Franchisee to the use thereof for the purpose of the installing and 

transmitting of Franchisee's Cable Services or other services over poles, wires, cables, conductors, ducts, 

conduits, vaults, manholes, amplifiers, compliances, attachments and other property as may be ordinarily 

necessary and pertinent to the Cable System. 

(z)  Scrambling: The electronic distortion of a Signal in order to render it unintelligible or 

unreceivable without the use of a Converter or other decoding device. 



 

6 

 

(aa) Service Interruption: The loss of any Signal, video picture or sound on one or more Channels 

carried over the Cable System for distribution to a Subscriber. 

(ab) Service Tier: A category of Cable Service or other services provided by a cable operator for 

which a separate rate is charged, as may be described and regulated by Federal law. 

(ac) Signal: Any transmission of electromagnetic or optical energy which carries Programming 

from one location to another. 

(ad) Standard Installation:  The standard two hundred fifty (250’) foot Drop connection to the 

existing distribution system.  

(ae) Subscriber: Any Person, firm, company, municipality, corporation or association who or 

which contracts with the Franchisee and is lawfully receiving Cable Services from the Franchisee. 

(af) Subscriber Network:  The trunk and feeder Signal distribution network over which video and 

audio Signals are transmitted to Subscribers. 

(ag) Town: The Town of Stratham, New Hampshire. 

(ah) Transfer: The disposal by the Franchisee, directly or indirectly, by gift, assignment, sale, 

merger, consolidation or otherwise of the ownership or control of the Cable System or the Renewal 

Franchise granted herein to a Person or a group of Persons acting in concert, as described in Section 2.5. 

(ai) Video Programming or Programming: The Programming provided by, or generally 

considered comparable to, Programming provided by a television Broadcast station. 



 

7 

 

ARTICLE 2 - GRANT OF FRANCHISE 

 

SECTION 2.1 - GRANT OF FRANCHISE 

Pursuant to the authority of the Cable Act and RSA 53-C of the Laws of New Hampshire, as 

amended from time to time, the Selectboard. acting as the Franchising Authority, hereby grants a non-

exclusive Franchise to Comcast of Maine/New Hampshire, Inc., a New Hampshire corporation, 

authorizing and permitting said Franchisee to construct, upgrade, operate and maintain a Cable System 

within the municipal limits of the Town of Stratham.  This Franchise shall be governed by and construed 

in accordance with the laws of the State of New Hampshire. 

The Franchise is granted under and in compliance with and subject to the Cable Act and RSA 53-

C of the Laws of New Hampshire, and in compliance with all rules and regulations of the FCC and all 

other applicable rules and regulations in force and effect during the period for which this Franchise 

Agreement is granted. The Franchising Authority specifically reserves all authority granted it under RSA 

231:160 et seq. to manage, regulate and control the public right-of-way, as such authority relates to the 

provisions of telecommunications services. Nothing in this Franchise shall be construed to prohibit the 

Franchisee from offering any service over its Cable System that is not prohibited by federal or state law. 

Subject to the terms and conditions herein, the Franchising Authority hereby grants to the 

Franchisee the right to construct, operate and maintain the Cable System, which may include poles, wires, 

optical fibers, amplifiers and other property and equipment as are necessary in, under, over, along, across 

and upon the Public Ways and other public places and property under the jurisdiction of and including 

other property over which the Town has a sufficient compatible easement or right-of-way, for the purpose 

of reception, transmission, amplification, origination, distribution or redistribution of Signals in 

accordance with the laws of the United States of America and the State of New Hampshire and Town of 

Stratham.  

 



 

8 

 

SECTION 2.2 - TERM 

 The term of this non-exclusive Franchise Agreement shall be for a period of  ten (10) years and 

shall commence on September 7, 2021, following the expiration of the current Franchise, and shall 

terminate at midnight on September 7, 2031.  The term of this Franchise Agreement is subject to all 

applicable provisions of New Hampshire law and applicable Federal law, as such laws may be from time 

to time amended. 

             The right to use and occupy the Public Ways and public places shall not be exclusive, and the 

Town reserves the right to grant similar or other uses of said Public Ways and public places to any entity 

for a similar Cable System or otherwise at any time during the term of this Franchise Agreement provided 

such uses do not unreasonably interfere with the easement rights granted to Franchisee herein. The 

Franchisee hereby acknowledges the Town's right to make such grants and permit such uses. 

SECTION 2.3 - RENEWAL OF FRANCHISE 

The renewal of this Franchise shall be governed by applicable Federal law and regulations 

promulgated thereunder and by applicable New Hampshire law. 

SECTION 2.4 – FRANCHISE FEE 

 (a) The Franchisee shall pay to the Town, throughout the term of this Renewal Franchise, a 

Franchise Fee equal to five percent (5%) of the Franchisee’s Gross Annual Revenue. 

 (b) The Franchisee’s payments to the Franchising Authority shall be made on a quarterly basis 

based on three (3) month calendar accounting periods, with payments due no later than forty-five (45) 

days after the end of the applicable calendar quarter.   

 (c) For each payment, Franchisee shall provide a statement certifying the factual basis for 

payment, including a break-down by category of Franchisee’s Gross Annual Revenues upon which such 

payment is based.  The Franchising Authority may designate in writing one or more particular accounts or 

funds, including any non-capital reserve fund duly established, to which the Franchisee shall direct 

Franchise Fees due hereunder. 

 (d) In accordance with Section 622(b) of the Cable Act, 47 U.S.C. § 542(b), the Franchisee shall 



 

9 

 

not be liable for a total financial commitment pursuant to this Renewal Franchise and applicable law in 

excess of five percent (5%) of its Gross Annual Revenues; provided, however, that said five percent (5%) 

shall include any amounts included in the term “Franchise Fee” pursuant to Section 622(g)(l) of the Cable 

Act, 47 U.S.C. § 542(g)(1), but shall not include (i) interest due herein to the Franchising Authority 

because of late payments; and (ii) any other exclusion to the term “Franchisee Fee” pursuant to Section 

622(g)(2) of the Cable Act, 47 U.S.C. § 542(g)(2).  

 (e) At any time during the life of this Renewal Franchise, the Franchising Authority may, as 

needed to verify the information provided hereunder, upon reasonable belief and after notice and an 

opportunity by the Franchisee to be heard, inspect and subject to independent audit, at the Franchising 

Authority’s expense, the financial records of Franchisee insofar as they apply to the calculation of (i) 

Gross Annual Revenues in the Town, and (ii) Franchise Fees paid to the Franchising Authority; provided, 

however, that if the Franchising Authority has a reasonable belief or reasonably should have such a belief 

of a need to verify information, it must exercise its right to inspect and audit within one (1) year of such 

Franchise Fee payment. 

 (f) No acceptance of any payment shall be construed as an accord that the payment is, in fact, 

the correct amount, nor shall such acceptance of payment be construed as a release of (i) any claim the 

Franchising Authority may have for further or additional sums payable under provisions of this Renewal 

Franchise or (ii) any other claim whatsoever; provided, however, that if at the time of acceptance the 

Franchising Authority knows or reasonably should have known that a payment is incorrect, it must 

challenge such payment within one (1) year of acceptance. 

 (g) The Franchising Authority agrees to protect any proprietary information supplied to it by 

treating such information as confidential to the extent permitted by New Hampshire RSA Chapter 91-A.  

 
SECTION 2.5 - TRANSFER OR ASSIGNMENT 

(a) The Franchise or control thereof shall not be transferred without prior written approval of 

the Franchise Authority, which approval shall not be arbitrarily or unreasonably withheld or delayed. 
  



 

10 

 

 

(b) No consent shall be required, however, for a transfer in trust, by mortgage, hypothecation, 

or by assignment of any rights, title, or interest of Franchisee in the Franchise or in the Cable System in 

order to secure indebtedness.  

(c) In reviewing any request to transfer or assign control or ownership, the Town shall analyze 

such factors as whether the transferee has the appropriate technical, legal and financial capacity to operate 

the Cable System. 

SECTION 2.6 - EQUAL PROTECTION PROVISION [SEE RSA 53-C:3-B] 

(a)  The Franchisee acknowledges and agrees that the Franchising Authority reserves the right 

to grant one or more franchises to other Cable Service providers within the Town for the right to use and 

occupy the Public Ways; provided, however, that in accordance with RSA Chapter 53-C and consistent 

with Federal law, the Franchising Authority shall not grant any additional franchises for the Cable Service 

within its jurisdiction on terms or conditions more favorable or less burdensome than those in any existing 

franchise within the Town. 

(b) In the event that the Franchisee believes that any additional franchise has been granted on 

terms and conditions more favorable or less burdensome than those contained in this Renewal Franchise, 

the Franchisee may so notify the Franchising Authority in writing and may request that the Franchising 

Authority convene a hearing on such issue. Along with said written request, the Franchisee shall provide 

the Franchising Authority with written reasons for its belief. At said hearing, the Franchisee shall have an 

opportunity to demonstrate that any such additional franchise is on terms more favorable or less 

burdensome than those contained in this Renewal. The Franchisee shall provide the Franchising Authority 

with such financial or other relevant information as is reasonably requested.  

(c) Should the Franchisee demonstrate that any such additional franchise has been granted on 

terms and conditions more favorable or less burdensome than those contained in this Renewal Franchise, 

the Franchising Authority shall consider and negotiate, in good faith, equitable amendments to this 

renewal Franchise within a reasonable time. 

 



 

11 

 

(d) The issuance of additional franchise(s) shall be subject to all applicable Federal and State 

laws, including RSA 53-C:3-b and applicable regulations promulgated there under. 

(e) In the event that the Franchisee demonstrates that an existing or future Cable Service 

provider in the Town has been provided relief by the Franchising Authority from any obligation of its 

franchise, then the Franchisee shall be awarded an equivalent amount of relief from obligation herein. 

Such relief shall be in writing and in form of an amendment to this Franchise.  The Franchising Authority 

shall convene a public hearing on the issue within sixty (60) days of Franchisee’s notification of the 

Franchising Authority requiring such relief, unless otherwise mutually agreed to. Franchisee shall provide 

reasons for its belief in the notification. At the public hearing, the Franchising Authority shall afford the 

Franchisee an opportunity to demonstrate any existing or future service providers in the Town have been 

provided relief by the Franchising Authority from any obligations of their cable television franchise. The 

Franchisee shall provide the Franchising Authority with such financial or other relevant information as is 

reasonably requested to justify its belief; provided, however, that the parties’ counsels mutually and 

reasonably deem said information is non-proprietary  

SECTION 2.7 - RESERVATION OF AUTHORITY 

 (a) Nothing in this Renewal Franchise shall (i) abrogate the right of the Franchising Authority to 

perform any public works or public improvements of any description, (ii) be construed as a waiver of any 

codes or bylaws/ordinances of general applicability and not specific to the Cable System, the Franchisee, 

or this Franchise, or (iii) be construed as a waiver or release of the rights of the Franchising Authority in 

and to the Public Ways.  Any conflict between the terms of this Renewal Franchise and any present or 

future exercise of the municipality’s police and regulatory powers shall be resolved by a court of 

appropriate jurisdiction. 

 (b) The rights and privileges granted hereby shall not be in preference or hindrance to the right 

of the Town, or other governmental agency, improvement district or other authority having jurisdiction, to 

perform or carry on any public works or public improvements, and should the Cable System in any way 

interfere with the construction, maintenance or repair of such public works or improvements, Franchisee 

shall, at its own expense, protect or relocate its system or part thereof, as directed by Town or other 



 

12 

 

authority having jurisdiction, provided, however that this requirement applies to all Persons or entities 

owning lines, cables, and distribution structures, and equipment and provided, further, that the Franchisee 

shall not be required to remove or relocate any such construction solely to accommodate the needs of a 

competing Cable System. 

SECTION 2.8 - POLE ATTACHMENT RIGHTS 

 (a)  Franchisee must comply, if applicable, with all the requirements of RSA 231:160 et seq. for 

obtaining conduit or pole licenses for any conduits or poles that Franchisee wishes to install.  Pursuant to 

RSA 231:161, permission is hereby granted to the Franchisee to attach or otherwise affix, including, but 

not limited to cables, wire, or optical fibers comprising the Cable Television System, to the existing poles 

and conduits on and under the Public Ways, provided the Franchisee secures the permission and consent 

of the public utility companies to affix the cables and/or wires to their pole and conduit facilities.  By 

virtue of this Renewal Franchise the Franchising Authority grants Franchisee equal standing with power 

and telephone utilities in the manner of placement of facilities on Public Ways, subject to the lawful 

exercise of the authority of the Town to approve the location of all installations in the Public Ways, and 

subject to the Town’s lawful use of the Public Ways. 

(b) To the extent permitted by applicable law and in accordance with the requirements of RSA 

72:23, I (b), the Franchisee(s) and any other entity now or hereafter using or occupying property of the 

state or of a city, town, school district or village district pursuant to this Franchise shall be responsible for 

the payment of, and shall pay, all properly assessed current and potential personal and real property taxes, 

if any, for such use or occupation and all properly assessed current and potential personal and real 

property taxes, if any, on structures or improvements added by Franchisee or any other entity using or 

occupying such property pursuant to this Franchise.  Pursuant to the provisions of this Section and subject 

to the provisions of Section 7.5 (Notice of Opportunity to Cure) herein, “failure of the Franchisee to pay 

the duly assessed personal and real estate taxes when due shall be cause to terminate said lease or 

agreement by the Franchising Authority.”   Accordingly, this is a material term of the Franchise and 

failure to pay duly and properly assessed personal and real property taxes when due shall be cause for 

Franchising Authority to provide a written notice to Franchisee, pursuant to the provisions of Section 7.5, 



 

13 

 

to show cause by a date certain specified in the notice as to why this Franchise should not be revoked 

pursuant to Section 7.6 (Revocation of Franchise; Default) of the Franchise.  To the extent applicable law 

provides authority for the Franchising Authority to assess taxes on Franchisee, pursuant to RSA 72:23, 

I(b), 72:8-a, 73:10 and/or 48-B:4 or otherwise, the Franchising Authority shall be authorized to impose 

such taxes and Franchisee shall be obligated to pay such properly assessed taxes.   However, Franchisee 

reserves all rights to appeal any assessment of personal or real property taxes.  Further, the parties 

acknowledge that there is a dispute between the parties concerning the applicability of RSA 72:23 to the 

Cable System.  The parties agree to abide by any final decision made by a court of competent jurisdiction, 

after all appeals by either party have been exhausted  

(c)  Nothing in this Franchise shall be deemed a waiver or relinquishment of any rights, 

defenses or claims that Franchisee may have with respect to the application of any law referenced in this 

Section 2.8 to Franchisee’s services or the operation of its Cable System.   

SECTION 2.9 - POLICE AND REGULATORY POWERS 

Franchisee's rights are subject to the powers of the Town to adopt and enforce general ordinances 

necessary for the safety and welfare of the public, provided that such ordinances are of general 

applicability and not specific to the Cable System, the Franchisee, or this Franchise including ordinances 

and regulations pertaining to management, control and regulation of public rights-of-way but only to the 

extent authorized or allowed by State and Federal law. 

  



 

14 

 

ARTICLE 3 - SYSTEM SPECIFICATIONS AND CONSTRUCTION 

SECTION 3.1 - SERVICE AREA; LINE EXTENSIONS 

(a) Franchisee shall make Cable Service available to every residential dwelling unit within the 

Town where the minimum density is at least twenty (20) dwelling units per aerial mile and forty (40) 

dwelling units per underground mile providing however, that any plant extension is measured from the 

existing trunk and distribution system and Franchisee is able to obtain from property owners any 

necessary easements and/or permits in accordance with the Cable Act.  Franchisee shall make Cable 

Service available to multiple dwelling units (MDU) where economically feasible and providing that 

Franchisee is able to obtain from the property owners any necessary easements, permits and agreements to 

provide service to said MDU.  Subject to the density requirement, Franchisee shall offer Cable Service to 

all new homes or previously unserved homes located within two hundred fifty feet (250’) of Franchisee’s 

distribution cable.  Consistent with § 3.4(b), the Franchising Authority, or its designee, shall exercise 

reasonable efforts to have the Planning Board and developers give timely written notice of trenching and 

underground construction to the Franchisee.   For non-Standard Installations Franchisee shall offer said 

service within ninety (90) days of a Subscriber’s requesting such for aerial installations and one hundred 

eighty (180) days, weather permitting, of a Subscriber’s requesting such for underground installations.   

 (b) Installation costs shall conform to the Cable Act.  Any dwelling unit within an aerial two 

hundred fifty feet (250’) of the trunk and distribution cable shall be entitled to a Standard Installation rate 

in accordance with applicable Federal and State laws.  Underground installs are considered non-Standard 

Installations.  All non-Standard Installations shall be provided at a rate established by the Franchisee in 

accordance with applicable Federal and State laws. 

SECTION 3.2 – SUBSCRIBER CONNECTION 

(a) The Franchisee shall, within fifteen (15) days of written request by the occupant of a 

dwelling, connect the Cable System to a dwelling at Standard Installation charges if the dwelling is within 

two hundred fifty feet (250’) aerial feet of the nearest Feeder Cable and only if the dwelling is properly 

internally wired to meet the Franchisee's specifications to prevent Signal leakage. 



 

15 

 

(b) Residences located over two hundred fifty feet (250’) aerial feet from Feeder Cable shall 

be charged an additional one time installation fee including all costs for labor and materials necessary to 

perform the installation. 

(c) Franchisee shall complete construction of any such Subscriber connections within fifteen 

(15) days of either a written request for such connection by the occupant or owner of the dwelling or 

within fifteen (15) days of the date any necessary easements are obtained, whichever occurs later, taking 

into account, and subject to, weather, force majeure, performance of make ready, availability of 

construction crews and materials. If requested in writing by the Franchising Authority, Franchisee shall 

provide a written report to the Town completely explaining its failure to meet the time frame stated 

herein. 

SECTION 3.3 – CABLE SYSTEM 

(a)  The Franchisee shall continue to provide and maintain its Cable System in Stratham to a 

minimum bandwidth of 750 Mhz.  For informational purposes only, Franchisee shall initially provide 

those Channel offerings detailed in Exhibit A. 

 (b)  The Franchisee shall deliver to Subscribers all Signals in stereo that are received at 

Franchisee’s headend in stereo.  Consistent with 47 U.S.C. §534(b), Franchisee shall comply with the 

applicable regulations concerning the transmission of commercial television signals. 

(c) The Cable System shall have the capability, as of the Effective Date, to deliver High 

Definition (“HDTV”) television Signals to Subscribers. Actual carriage of any such HDTV Channels will 

be at the Franchisee's sole discretion.   

SECTION 3.4 - CONSTRUCTION 

(a) In constructing the Cable System, the Franchisee shall follow present and future pole 

placements in the Town. Where telephone and electric utilities are both underground, the Franchisee shall 

place its cables underground. 

(b) In the case of new construction or property development where utilities are to be placed 



 

16 

 

aerially or underground, the developer or property owner shall give Franchisee reasonable notice of not 

less than forty-five (45) days prior to such construction or development, and if applicable, of the particular 

date on which open trenching will be available for Franchisee's installation of conduit, pedestals and/or 

vaults, and materials to be provided at Franchisee’s expense. Franchisee shall also provide specifications 

as needed for trenching. Cost of trenching and easements required to bring service to the development 

shall be borne by the developer or property owner.  The Franchising Authority, or its designee, shall 

exercise reasonable efforts to have the Planning Board and developers give timely written notice of 

trenching and underground construction to the Franchisee.  

(c) In existing areas and new construction or property development where utilities’ and 

Franchisee’s cables are located underground, Franchisee shall comply with any  Planning Board 

conditions of approvals and all Town Ordinances of general applicability concerning ground mounted 

appurtenances, such as customer taps, line extenders, system passive devices, amplifiers, power supplies, 

pedestals, or other related equipment. 

 

SECTION 3.5 - PARENTAL CONTROL CAPABILITY 

Pursuant to federal law and upon request, the Franchisee shall make available to  Subscribers the 

capability to control the reception of any Channels on the Cable System.  The Franchising Authority 

acknowledges that the parental control capability may be part of a Converter box and the Franchisee may 

charge Subscriber for use of said box. 

SECTION 3.6 – PEG ACCESS PROGRAMMING 

 (a) The Franchisee shall continue to make available to the Town of Stratham an Access 

Channel to be used to receive the shared SAU 16 Educational Programming received from the Exeter 

headend.  There will be no live origination location as of the Effective Date in the Town of Stratham for 

the shared SAU 16 Access Channel, but such capability may be requested by the Franchising Authority 

pursuant to Section 3.7, below. 

 

 (b) At the option of the Franchising Authority, on or after the first anniversary of the Effective 



 

17 

 

Date, by vote of the Selectboard for the Town, the Franchising Authority may request in writing and 

Franchisee shall provide within One Hundred Eighty (180) days of that request, capacity on one (1) 

additional Channel for a PEG Access Channel to be used for public access Programming provided by the 

Franchising Authority or its designee, Educational Access Programming provided by the Franchising 

Authority or designated educational institution, and Governmental Access Programming provided by the 

Franchising Authority.  A PEG Access Channel may not be used to cablecast programs for profit, political 

or commercial fundraising in any fashion.   

 (c) Use of Channel capacity for PEG Access Programming shall be provided in accordance with 

Federal law, 47 U.S.C. 531, and as further set forth below.  Franchisee does not relinquish its ownership 

of or ultimate right of control over a Channel by designating it for PEG Access Programming.  A PEG 

access user – whether an individual, educational or governmental user – acquires no property or other 

interest by virtue of the use of a Channel so designated, and may not rely on the continued use of a 

particular Channel number, no matter how long the same Channel may have been designated for such use.  

Franchisee shall not exercise editorial control over any public, educational, or governmental use of 

Channel capacity, except Franchisee may refuse to transmit any Access Programming or portion thereof 

that contains obscenity, indecency, or nudity pursuant to Section 611 of the Cable Act.  The Franchising 

Authority shall be responsible for developing, implementing, interpreting and enforcing rules for PEG 

Access Channel use. 

 (d) The Franchisee shall not move or otherwise relocate the Channel location of the PEG Access 

Channel or the shared SAU 16 Channel, once established, without thirty (30) days’ advance written notice 

to the Franchising Authority.  The Franchisee shall use its best efforts, in good faith, to minimize any 

PEG Access Channel or shared SAU Access Channel relocation. 

 (e) The Franchisee shall continue to make PEG Access Programming and shared SAU 16 

educational programming available to all Subscribers. 
  



 

18 

 

 

SECTION 3.7 – LIVE PEG ACCESS CABLECASTING 

 (a)    If the Franchising Authority desires to have one or more live origination locations in the 

Town, either for educational programming created in Town schools or the Town of Stratham for the 

shared SAU 16 Educational Access Channel, or Public, Educational or Governmental Access 

Programming for a Town Access Channel, then the Franchising Authority shall so notify Franchisee in 

writing.  Franchisee shall construct such return lines for said origination location(s) as are necessary, 

within twelve (12) months of written notification from the Franchising Authority.  Franchisee shall 

provide an estimate of the cost of such construction.  In years one or two of the Franchise Agreement, 

upon direction from the Town, Franchisee shall construct such a return line, which cost may be a 

franchise-related cost, pursuant to Section 3.10.  In years three through five of the Franchise Agreement, 

after providing the estimate to the Town and receiving direction from the Town, Franchisee shall 

construct such a return line, which may either be paid for by the Town in advance, or the Parties may 

mutually agree to extend the Franchise under the same terms and conditions for an additional two (2) 

years, and the cost may be treated as a franchise-related cost, pursuant to Section 3.10. 

 (b) In order that PEG Access Programming and/or shared SAU 16 educational Programming can 

be cablecast over Franchisee’s downstream PEG Access Channels, including the shared SAU 16 

educational Channel and the Town PEG Access Channel, if elected, all PEG Access Programming shall 

be modulated, then transmitted from origination location(s) designated by the Franchising Authority to 

the Franchisee-owned head end or hub-site on a Franchisee-owned upstream Channel made available, 

without charge, to the Town for its use.  At the Franchisee-owned head end, said PEG Access 

Programming and/or shared SAU 16 educational Programming shall be retransmitted in the downstream 

direction on the Franchisee-owned Subscriber Network downstream PEG Access Channels and/or shared 

SAU 16 educational Channel. 

 (c) The Franchisee shall provide and maintain all necessary switching and/or processing 

equipment located at its hub-site or head end in order to switch upstream Signals carrying PEG Access 

Programming and/or shared SAU 16 Educational Programming from the locations designated by the 



 

19 

 

Franchising Authority to the designated Franchisee-owned Subscriber Network downstream PEG Access 

Channel, including the shared SAU 16 educational Channel. 

 (d) The Franchisee shall own, maintain, repair and/or replace any Franchisee-owned head end or 

hub-site audio or video Signal processing equipment.    The Town and/or PEG access provider or 

designee shall own, maintain, repair and/or replace studio or portable modulators and demodulators.  The 

demarcation point between the Franchisee’s equipment and the Town’s, its designee’s or PEG access 

provider’s equipment shall be at the output of the Town’s, its designee’s and/or the PEG access provider’s 

modulator(s) at any of the origination locations designated by the Franchising Authority for the PEG 

Access Channel and/or the SAU 16 shared educational Channel. 

 (e) The Franchisee shall maintain the PEG Access Channel and/or the SAU 16 shared 

educational Channel, and shall monitor them for technical Signal quality and shall ensure that they are 

maintained at the same FCC technical standards as those that apply to the Cable System’s commercial 

Channels.  The Franchising Authority or its designee shall be responsible for the picture quality of all 

PEG Access Programming and/or shared SAU 16 educational Programming at the demarcation point(s), 

which shall be the output of the modulator.  To provide for adequate picture quality, the Franchising 

Authority’s video Signal shall meet NTSC standards and/or the minimum operating input parameters of 

the modulators. 

SECTION 3.8 - PROGRAMMING EXCLUSIVITY AND NON-COMPETITION 

 The Franchising Authority, or its designee, agrees that it will not use its designated PEG Access 

Channels, equipment, or other facilities to provide for-profit commercial services which have the effect of 

competing with the Franchisee’s business.  In addition, any Video Programming cablecast under the 

provisions of this Section 3 shall not be commercially distributed to a competing multichannel Video 

Programming distributor without the written consent of the Franchisee. 

SECTION 3.9 – INTERCONNECTION WITH COMPETING CABLE FRANCHISEE 

 In the event a franchise is issued by the Franchising Authority for a competing franchise and such 

competing franchisee desires to cablecast the PEG Access Programming originating from a PEG access 



 

20 

 

location as provided in Section 3.7, the parties agree that the competing franchisee shall maintain its own 

upstream video return link from the origination location as set forth in Subsection 3.7(c).  If PEG Access 

Programming is originating from Franchisee’s hub rather than a origination location as contemplated by 

Subsection 3.7(c), Franchisee shall make the programming on the PEG Access Channel available to the 

holder of the additional franchise for cablecasting over its Cable System in the Town upon execution of 

an interconnection agreement between Franchisee and the holder of the additional franchise.  If a 

competing provider provides PEG access in the Town, Franchising Authority will seek a similar and 

reciprocal requirement in the competitor’s franchise agreement. 

SECTION 3.10 – FRANCHISE RELATED COST 

 The Franchising Authority acknowledges that under the Cable Act, certain costs, including but not 

limited to costs of public, educational and governmental (PEG) Access, the cost to construct video return 

lines from video origination sites, the cost to activate a PEG Channel and the cost of other Franchise 

requirements, may be passed through to the Subscribers in accordance with Federal law. 

SECTION 3.11 - EMERGENCY OVERRIDE 

The Franchisee shall comply with the FCC’s Emergency Alert System (“EAS”) regulations. 

SECTION 3.12 - DELIVERY OF SIGNALS 

The Franchisee will abide by the Consumer Electronics Equipment Compatibility provision of 

Federal law (47 USC §544a).  

SECTION 3.13 - LEASED ACCESS CHANNELS 

Pursuant to 47 U.S.C. §532, the Franchisee shall make Channel capacity available as required by 

the Cable Act for Leased Access use to a Person, group, organization or entity upon reaching an 

appropriate agreement. Rates for the use of Leased Access Channels shall be set in accordance with the 

provisions of the Cable Act. 

 



 

21 

 

SECTION 3.14 - MUNICIPAL CABLE DROPS TO CABLE SYSTEM  

The Franchisee shall continue to provide, at no cost to the Town, one (1) Drop, Outlet and Basic 

Service, to all schools and Municipal Buildings and future schools and Municipal Buildings which are 

within two hundred fifty feet (250’) feet of Feeder Cable.  Should the distance be greater, the school or 

the Town will pay Franchisee a one-time installation fee, including all costs for labor and materials 

necessary to perform the non-standard installation or construction. The Franchising Authority or its 

designee shall consult with the appropriate individuals to determine the appropriate location of each Drop 

and Outlet prior to requesting that the Franchisee install the complimentary service.  Nothing in this 

Section shall require Franchisee to install an additional Drop or Outlet to any school or Public or 

Municipal Building which already has a free Drop or Outlet provided under the terms of the previous 

Franchise Agreement. 

  



 

22 

 

ARTICLE 4 - TECHNOLOGICAL AND SAFETY STANDARDS 

SECTION 4.1 - SYSTEM MAINTENANCE 

(a) While installing, operating and maintaining equipment, cable and wires, the Franchisee 

shall avoid damage and injury to trees, structures and improvements in and along the routes authorized by 

the Franchising Authority except as may be approved by the Franchising Authority if required for the 

proper installation, operation and maintenance of such equipment, cable and wires. 

(b) The construction, maintenance and operation of the Cable System for which this Franchise 

is granted shall be done in conformance with OSHA, the National Electrical Safety Code, the rules and 

regulations of the FCC and applicable State and local laws and ordinances. 

(c) The Cable System shall be constructed, operated and maintained so as to comply, at a 

minimum, with all FCC requirements as to Signal quality and characteristic and so as to avoid 

interference with television reception, radio reception, telephone communications or other electronic 

installations in Town. Upon request by the Franchising Authority or its designee, Franchisee shall provide 

proof of compliance of FCC Signal requirements. 

(d) Operating and maintenance personnel shall be thoroughly trained in the use of all safety 

equipment and the said operation of vehicles and equipment. All areas of the Cable System shall be 

routinely inspected and maintained so that conditions that could develop into safety hazards for the 

public and/or operating and maintenance personnel can be corrected before they become a hazard. The 

Franchisee shall install and maintain its wire, cable, fixtures, and other equipment in such a manner as 

shall not interfere with any installations of the Town. 

(e) The Cable System, wherever situated or located, shall at all times be kept and maintained 

in a safe and suitable condition and in good order and repair. 

(f) The Signal of any television station carried on the Cable System shall be carried without 

material degradation in quality at all Subscriber locations within the limits imposed by the technical 

specifications of the Cable System and as set forth by the FCC. The Cable System shall be operated and 

maintained so as to comply with the technical standards set forth in the FCC's rules and regulations as 

they apply to Cable Systems. 



 

23 

 

(g) The Town reserves the right to reasonably inspect the Cable System equipment of the 

Franchisee in the Town, all construction and installation work for compliance with applicable laws, 

ordinances and regulations and with the provisions of the Renewal Franchise, in order to ensure 

compliance with the terms and conditions of the Renewal Franchise and all applicable laws.  The 

Franchisee shall fully cooperate in such inspections; provided however that such inspections are 

reasonable and do not interfere with the employees, operation or performance of the facilities of the Cable 

System, and that such inspections are conducted after reasonable notice to the Franchisee. The Franchisee 

shall have a representative present during such inspections. All inspections shall be at the expense of the 

Town. 

(h) All lines, cables and distribution structures and equipment, including poles and towers, 

erected by Franchisee within the Town shall be located so as not to obstruct or interfere with the proper 

use of Public Ways, as defined herein, and to cause minimum interference with the rights of property 

owners who abut any of the said Public Ways, and not to interfere with the existing public utility 

installation. Franchisee shall have no vested right in a location except as granted herein by the Franchise, 

and such construction shall be removed by Franchisee at its own cost and expense whenever the same 

restricts or obstructs or interferes with the operation or location of any future operation or location of said 

Public Ways, provided, however, that this standard shall apply to all Persons or entities owning lines, 

cables, and distribution structures and equipment and provided further that the Franchisee shall not be 

required to remove any such construction solely to accommodate needs of competing Cable Systems. 

(i) Upon written notice from the Town, the Franchisee shall remedy a general deficiency with 

respect to the technical standards described herein within forty five (45) days of receipt of notice and a 

safety deficiency within forty-eight (48) hours of receipt of notice and shall notify the Town when the 

deficiency has been corrected. 

SECTION 4.2 - REPAIRS AND RESTORATION 

 (a) Maintenance of Cable System:  Franchisee shall adhere to a preventive maintenance policy 

at the performance standard set by the FCC.  Whenever it is necessary to interrupt service for the purpose 

of making repairs, adjustments, installation or other maintenance activities, Franchisee shall do so at such 



 

24 

 

time as will cause the least inconvenience to Subscribers.  Except where there exists an emergency 

situation necessitating a more expeditious procedure, the Franchisee may interrupt service for the purpose 

of repairing or testing the Cable System only during periods of minimum use. 

 (b) Repairs to Public Property:  Whenever the Franchisee takes up or disturbs any pavement, 

sidewalk or other improvement of any Public Way or public place, the same shall be replaced and the 

surface restored in as good condition as possible as before entry as soon as practicable, subject to all 

permitting and code specifications.  Franchisee shall notify the Franchising Authority when such repairs 

are completed.  If not so repaired or restored, the Franchising Authority shall notify the Franchisee in 

writing and such repair or restoration shall be made within thirty (30) days, unless delayed by weather or 

events beyond the reasonable control of Franchisee, after Franchisee’s receipt of written notification from 

the Franchising Authority, unless otherwise agreed by Franchisee and the Franchising Authority.  Upon 

failure of the Franchisee to comply within the time specified (unless the Franchising Authority sets an 

extended time period for such restoration and repairs) or if such damage presents an emergency situation 

presenting a threat to public safety, the Franchising Authority may cause proper restoration and repairs to 

be made and the reasonable expense of such work shall be paid by the Franchisee upon demand by the 

Franchising Authority. 

 (c) Failure to Repair:  In addition, upon the failure, refusal or neglect of Franchisee to cause 

any work or other act required by law or by this Renewal Franchise to be properly completed in any 

Public Way within any time prescribed, the Franchising Authority may cause such work or other act to be 

performed or completed in whole or in part, and prior to so doing shall submit to Franchisee in advance 

an itemized estimate of the cost thereof.  Franchisee shall, within thirty (30) days after receipt of a 

statement of the actual cost incurred, pay to the Franchising Authority the entire amount thereof.  Subject 

to Section 7.4 herein, the Franchising Authority, at its option, may draw upon the bond described herein 

to recover any cost incurred pursuant to this Section should Franchisee fail to pay such costs. 

 (d) Repairs to Private Property:  The Franchisee shall be subject to all laws of general 

applicability regarding private property in the course of constructing, installing, operating and maintaining 

the Cable System in the Town.  The Franchisee shall, at its sole cost and expense, repair or replace all 

private property, real and personal, damaged or destroyed as a result of the construction, installation, 



 

25 

 

operation or maintenance of the Cable System, within forty-five (45) days of written notification of the 

damage. 

 

SECTION 4.3 - CABLE LOCATION 

(a) In all areas of the Town where all of the transmission and distribution facilities of all 

public or municipal utilities are installed underground, Franchisee shall install its Cable System 

underground, provided that such facilities are actually capable of receiving the Franchisee’s cable and 

other equipment without technical degradation of the Cable System’s Signal quality, subject to the 

provisions of subsection (c) below. 

(b) In all areas of the Town where existing public utility lines are aerially placed, if 

subsequently during the term of the Renewal Franchise such public utility lines are required by local 

ordinance or State law to be relocated aerially or underground, Franchisee shall similarly relocate its 

Cable System if it is given reasonable notice and access to the public and municipal utilities facilities at 

the time that such are placed underground.  Any costs of relocating utility poles or trenching for the 

placement of underground conduits shall be proportionally shared or reimbursed, if applicable, by all 

affected companies, as provided by law. 

(c) Nothing in this Section 4.3 shall be construed to require the Franchisee to construct, 

operate, or maintain underground any appurtenances normally ground-mounted, such as customer taps, 

line extenders, system passive devices, amplifiers, power supplies, pedestals, or other related equipment.   

SECTION 4.4 - TREE TRIMMING 

The Franchisee shall have the authority to trim trees upon and overhanging the Public Ways and 

places of the Town so as to prevent the branches of such trees from coming in contact with the wires, 

cables and equipment of the Franchisee, in accordance with applicable State law and any Town 

ordinances and regulations, and following all abutter notice requirements and obtaining any required 

permissions from the Planning Board or Selectboard to trim on any “scenic roads” designated pursuant to 

RSA 231:157. 

 



 

26 

 

SECTION 4.5 - STRAND MAPS 

Within sixty (60) days from a request in writing from the Franchise Authority, the Franchisee 

shall provide to the Town a set of strand maps indicating underground and aerial cable plant within the 

Town. 

SECTION 4.6 - EMERGENCY POWER 

The Cable System shall incorporate equipment capable of providing standby powering of the 

head end for a minimum of seventy-two (72) hours upon failure of the power furnished by the electric 

utility company unless for reasons of force majeure as defined in Section 8.2 hereof. 

SECTION 4.7 - RESIDENTIAL EXTERIOR WIRING 

Franchisee shall adhere to Subscriber's reasonable request for location of entry and shall in 

other respects observe standard specifications for Drop connections into the residence. Exterior wiring 

on a residence shall be installed as unobtrusively as possible. Each Drop shall be grounded at each 

Subscriber's residence at the time of initial installation of Cable Service or during the next scheduled in-

house servicing that is performed. 

SECTION 4.8 - BUILDING MOVES 

 In accordance with applicable laws, the Franchisee shall, upon the written request of any Person 

holding a building moving permit issued by the Town, temporarily raise or lower its wires to permit the 

moving of the building(s).  The Franchisee shall be given not less than thirty (30) days’ advance written 

notice to arrange for such temporary wire changes.  The cost to raise or lower wires shall be borne by the 

Person(s) holding the building move permit. 

SECTION 4.9 - DIG SAFE  

 The Franchisee shall comply with all applicable “dig safe” provisions pursuant to RSA 374:51 of 

the New Hampshire Laws. 



 

27 

 

 

ARTICLE 5 – CUSTOMER SERVICE, MARKETING OF SERVICES AND CONSUMER 

PROTECTION 

SECTION 5.1 - CUSTOMER SERVICE 

(a)  Franchisee shall comply with customer service standards as set forth by the FCC in 

accordance with the Cable Act and as set forth in applicable New Hampshire statutes, as amended from 

time to time.  The federal standards are currently set out in 47 C.F.R. § 76.309; 76.1602-1603 and 

76.1619, which provisions are set out in Exhibit B and incorporated herein.  

(b)  If an historical record of complaints indicates a clear failure to comply with the telephone 

answering standards in 47 C.F.R. §76.309, Franchisee shall acquire equipment to perform surveys to 

measure compliance and shall share the results of such surveys with the Franchising Authority on a timely 

basis.  

(c) Franchisee shall maintain a convenient location for the payment of customer bills within 

the New Hampshire seacoast area. 

(d)   The Franchisee shall make all reasonable efforts to respond to all service calls within 

twenty-four (24) hours and correct malfunctions as promptly as possible.  

(e)  Except as limited by State or Federal law or FCC regulations concerning privacy, 

Franchisee shall maintain a record of all written complaints and such records shall be available at 

Franchisee's local office for at least one (1) year for inspection by the Town as it may from time to time 

request, during regular business hours and upon reasonable notice. Nothing herein shall be deemed to 

require Franchisee to maintain records of oral complaints which can be handled to the customer's 

satisfaction in the course of the initial conversation in which the complaint is made or does not require 

technical field response.  If so requested by the Franchising Authority, in its Annual Report, as provided 

in Section 7.3, the Franchisee shall provide to the Town an accounting of the number and nature of such 

complaints. 

 



 

28 

 

(f) The Franchisee shall maintain its records as required by and in a manner not inconsistent 

with applicable Federal or State law or regulation. 

SECTION 5.2 - TERMINATION OF SERVICE 

In the event a Subscriber's service is terminated, monthly charges for service shall be pro-rated on 

a daily basis and, where advance payment has been made by a Subscriber, the appropriate refund shall be 

made by Franchisee to the Subscriber.   Franchisee shall have the right to disconnect a Subscriber for 

failure to pay an overdue account.  

SECTION 5.3 - SERVICE INTERRUPTIONS 

In the event of a Cable Service interruption to any Subscriber for twenty-four (24) or more 

consecutive hours, Franchisee shall grant such Subscribers a pro rata credit or rebate on a daily basis of 

that portion of the service charge during the next consecutive billing cycle, or at its option, apply such 

credit to any outstanding balance then currently due. Credits or rebates shall be applied as described 

above, after due notice to the Franchisee from the Subscriber, either via telephone or in writing, at the 

choice of the Subscriber.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, in Franchisee’s discretion in the event of any 

Town-wide Cable Service Interruption of up to 90% of customers in the Town for twenty-four (24) hours 

or more, Franchisee may apply an automatic credit to Subscribers’ bills or, at its option, apply such credit 

to any outstanding balance then due. Franchisee shall consider a similar credit for any Service 

Interruptions lasting less than twenty-four (24) hours, excluding interruptions which are beyond the 

control of the Franchisee, such as, but not limited to, electrical outages, acts of God, or for any reason of 

force majeure. 

SECTION 5.4 - IDENTIFICATION 

Franchisee shall ensure that all of its vehicles, employees, agents and subcontractors are 

reasonably identified to the general public. Vehicles of Franchisee, its agents and subcontractors, shall be 

identified with the name of the company, the address and telephone number or website address.  Agents 

and contractors hired by the Franchisee to perform any substantial construction or maintenance work on 

the Cable System (meaning more than six (6) hours of work) in the Town shall inform the Stratham 

Police Department of the work location within the Town and provide relevant vehicle identification prior 



 

29 

 

to commencing such work.  Agents and contractors hired by the Franchisee to perform any substantial 

construction or maintenance work on the Cable System (meaning more than six (6) hours of work) in the 

Town shall inform the Stratham Police Department of the work location within the Town and provide 

relevant vehicle identification prior to commencing such work. 

SECTION 5.5 - SUBSCRIBER PRIVACY AND RIGHTS TO INFORMATION 

 The conduct of the Franchisee related to Subscriber privacy  shall be consistent with and 

governed by Section 631 of the Cable Act, “Protection of Subscriber Privacy,” 47 USC § 551, as provided 

in Exhibit C and incorporated herein.  Any Subscriber may, upon written request, examine all records 

maintained by Franchisee relating to the Subscriber's account. Franchisee shall insure that all information 

related to billing and service requests is accurate and up-to-date and shall promptly correct any errors 

upon discovery. 



 

30 

 

ARTICLE 6 - RATES AND CHARGES 

SECTION 6.1 - RATES AND CHARGES 

(a) A price schedule for service and installation in effect on the date of execution of this 

Franchise Agreement is attached hereto for informational purposes only as Exhibit D.  Any changes in 

price for Cable Service, equipment and installation will be in conformance with the Cable Act of 1992 

and the rules and regulations of the FCC, and any currently or hereinafter applicable Federal and/or State 

laws and regulations.  The rules currently in Exhibit D are incorporated herein. 

(b) Town shall have the right, to the extent granted under State law, the Cable Act and FCC 

regulations, to regulate rates, equipment, installation and service charges to Subscribers. 

(c) The Franchisee may require a deposit or refuse service to any applicant for a bona fide 

credit reason which relates to the applicant's overdue or delinquent account with the Franchisee. The 

Franchisee may require that the account of any Subscriber requesting work be current before such work is 

performed. 

(d) Franchisee shall notify the Franchising Authority of any rate adjustment in accordance with 

Federal law. Franchisee shall, upon request, provide to the Town copies of any materials filed in response 

to any rate complaint with the Federal Communications Commission (FCC). 

(e) The Franchisee may levy collection charges and late fees consistent with industry practice 

and the prevailing law of New Hampshire. 

  



 

31 

 

ARTICLE 7 - REGULATORY OVERSIGHT 

SECTION 7.1 - INDEMNIFICATION 

The Franchisee shall, at its sole cost and expense, indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the 

Town, its officials, boards, commissions, committees, agents, representatives, volunteers, and/or 

employees, at all times during the term of this Franchise Agreement, and any subsequent extensions 

thereof, from any and all claims for injury and damage to Persons or property, both real and personal, 

arising directly or indirectly out of the installation, operation,  maintenance and/or removal of any 

Franchisee-owned structure, equipment, wire or cable within the Franchise area. The Town shall give the 

Franchisee timely written notice of its obligation to indemnify and defend the Town.   

SECTION 7.2 - INSURANCE 

(a) From the Effective Date and at all other times during the term of the Franchise, including 

the time for removal of facilities provided for herein, the Franchisee shall obtain, pay all premiums for, 

and provide upon written request the Franchising Authority, on an annual basis, copies of the certificates 

of insurance for the following policies: 

 (i) A comprehensive general liability policy naming the Franchising Authority, the 

Town, its officers, boards, committees, commissions, employees, volunteers, agents, and representatives 

as additional insured on a primary and noncontributory basis for all claims on account of injury to or 

death of a Person or Persons occasioned by the construction, installation, maintenance or operation of the 

Cable System or alleged to have been so occasioned, with a minimum liability of One Million Dollars 

($1,000,000.00) for injury or death or property damage in any one occurrence. The amount of such 

insurance for excess liability shall be Five Million Dollars ($5,000,000.00) in umbrella form. Overall 

limits of liability may be met through any combination of primary and excess liability insurance policies.  

 (ii) A property damage insurance policy naming the Franchising Authority, the Town, 

its officers, boards, committees, commissions, agents, employees, volunteers, agents, and representatives 

as additional insureds and save them harmless from any and all claims of property damage, real or 

personal, occasioned or alleged to have been so occasioned by the construction, installation, maintenance 



 

32 

 

or operation of the Cable System, with a minimum liability of One Million Dollars ($1,000,000.00) for 

damage to the property of any one Person in any one occurrence. 

 (iii) Automobile liability insurance for owned automobiles, non-owned automobiles 

and/or rented automobiles in the amount of: 

   (1) One Million Dollars ($1,000,000.00) combined single limit for bodily 

injury, consequent death and property damage per occurrence; 

   (2) One Million Dollars ($1,000,000.00) for bodily injury and consequent death 

to any one person; and 

   (3) Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($500,000.00) for property damage per 

occurrence. 

 (iv) Worker’s Compensation, including liability benefits and any other legally required 

employee benefits, shall be supplied in statutory amounts. 

(b) All insurance coverage, including Workers’ Compensation, shall be maintained throughout 

the period of this Renewal Franchise.  All expenses incurred for said insurance shall be at the sole 

expense of the Franchisee. 

(c) No later than sixty (60) days after the execution of this Renewal Franchise, Franchisee shall 

furnish to the Town certificates of insurance.  Any certificates for new or replacement insurance coverage 

shall be provided to the Town within thirty (30) days of when they become effective or upon written 

request of the Town. 

(d) The insurance policies required herein shall each contain an endorsement stating that such 

insurance policies are intended to cover the liability assumed by the Franchisee under the terms of this 

Renewal Franchise and shall contain the following endorsement: 

It is hereby understood and agreed that this insurance policy shall not be 

canceled, materially changed or the amount of coverage thereof reduced 

until thirty (30) days after receipt by the Franchising Authority by certified 

mail or electronic mail (email) of one (1) copy of a written notice of such 



 

33 

 

intent to cancel, materially change or reduce the coverage required herein. 

(e) Such insurance shall be primary with respect to any insurance maintained by the Town and 

shall not call on the Town's insurance for contributions. 

(f)  Such insurance shall be obtained from brokers or carriers authorized to transact insurance 

business in New Hampshire. 

(g) The Franchisee's failure to obtain to procure or maintain the required insurance shall 

constitute a material breach of this Franchise under which the Town may immediately suspend operations 

under this Franchise, 

SECTION 7.3 - REPORTS 

Annually, within sixty (60) days of the end of the calendar year, upon written request Franchisee 

shall provide to the Town a report as provided in Exhibit E containing information regarding the overall 

operation of the Cable System during the preceding year. The information may include, but not be limited 

to, status of rates and charges, new Programming services added, status of operating procedures, and 

results from Subscriber satisfaction surveys, if any. 

SECTION 7.4 - PERFORMANCE BOND 

 (a) Franchisee shall obtain and maintain during the entire term of this Franchise Agreement, at 

its sole cost and expense, and filed with the Town, a performance bond, running to the Town, in the 

amount of Fifty Thousand Dollars ($50,000) to guarantee the following terms and conditions: 

  (i) satisfactory compliance with the provisions of this Franchise Agreement; 

(ii) restoration of pavements, sidewalks and other improvements in accordance with this 

Franchise; 

(iii)  satisfactory removal of the Cable System upon termination of this Franchise 

Agreement, or any renewal thereof. 

(b)   Subject to the provisions of Section 7.5, the Town may draw upon this bond for the 

purpose of curing any deficiency or breach by Franchisee of the terms stated in this Section 7.4 or Section 

7.7.  This right to draw upon this bond shall not in any way impede or impair the right of the Franchisee 



 

34 

 

to appeal the basis for such action. The Town may draw upon this bond and may otherwise recover any 

and all penalties due to the Town and any and all damages, losses, costs, and expenses suffered or 

incurred by the Town resulting from the failure of Franchisee to comply with one or more provisions of 

this Section 7.4 and/or Section 7.7.  Such losses, costs and expenses shall include, but not be limited to, 

reasonable attorney’s fees and other legal, consulting and auditing expenses.  Nothing herein shall be 

deemed to permit the Town to collect more than the sums that it is due.  The Town may not recover these 

sums from multiple parties. 

(c)  The Franchising Authority, after inspection of the construction repair or removal and finding it 

satisfactory, shall release the additional bond for construction/repair/removal only.  If the construction 

repair or removal is not satisfactory, the Franchising Authority may draw upon this bond.   

(d)  The obligations regarding the performance bonds in this Section 7.4 shall survive the 

termination of the Franchise Agreement, or of any renewal thereof. 

(e) The performance bond required herein shall contain an endorsement stating that such 

performance bond is intended to cover the liability assumed by the Franchisee under the terms of this 

Renewal Franchise and shall contain the following endorsement: 

It is hereby understood and agreed that this performance bond shall not be 

canceled, materially changed or the amount of coverage thereof reduced 

until thirty (30) days after receipt by the Franchising Authority by certified 

mail or electronic mail (email) of one (1) copy of a written notice of such 

intent to cancel, materially change or reduce the coverage required herein. 

SECTION 7.5 - NOTICE OF OPPORTUNITY TO CURE 

 (a) In the event that the Franchising Authority has reason to believe that the Franchisee has 

defaulted in the performance of any or several provisions of this Renewal Franchise, except as excused by 

force majeure, and prior to instituting any action against the Franchisee under Section 7.4 (Performance 

Bond) or Section 7.6 (Revocation), the Franchising Authority shall notify the Franchisee in writing, by 

certified mail, of the provision or provisions which the Franchising Authority believes may have been in 



 

35 

 

default and the details relating thereto.  The Franchisee shall have forty-five (45) days from the receipt of 

such notice to: 

  (i) respond to the Franchising Authority in writing, contesting the Franchising 

Authority’s assertion of default and providing such information or documentation as may be necessary to 

support the Franchisee’s position; or 

  (ii) cure any such default (and provide written evidence of the same) or, in the event that 

by nature of the default such default cannot be cured within such forty-five (45) day period, take reasonable 

steps to cure said default and diligently continue such efforts until said default is cured.  In the event that 

repairs require more than forty-five (45) days, the Franchisee shall report to the Franchising Authority, in 

writing, by certified mail, at thirty (30) day intervals as to the Franchisee’s efforts, indicating the steps taken 

by the Franchisee to cure said default and reporting the Franchisee’s progress until such default is cured. 

 (b) In the event that (i) the Franchisee fails to respond to such notice of default; and/or (ii) the 

Franchisee fails to cure the default or to take reasonable steps to cure the default within the required forty-

five (45) day period; the Franchising Authority or its designee shall promptly schedule a public hearing no 

sooner than fourteen (14) days after written notice, by certified mail, to the Franchisee. The Franchisee shall 

be provided reasonable opportunity to offer evidence, question witnesses, if any, and be heard at such public 

hearing.  

 (c) Within forty-five (45) days after said public hearing, the Franchising Authority shall issue a 

written determination of its findings.  In the event that the Franchising Authority determines that the 

Franchisee is in default, the Franchising Authority may determine to pursue any lawful remedy available to 

it, including revocation of the Renewal Franchise pursuant to Section 7.6.  In the event that the Franchising 

Authority does not issue a final report, said notice of default shall be considered null and void. 

SECTION 7.6 - REVOCATION OF FRANCHISE; DEFAULT 

The Franchise issued hereunder may, after due notice and hearing as defined herein, be revoked 

by the Franchising Authority for any of the following reasons: 

(i) For failure to comply with any of the material terms and conditions of the Franchise; 

(ii) The repeated failure, as determined by the Franchising Authority, to maintain Signal 



 

36 

 

quality pursuant to FCC standards; 

(iii) For any Transfer or assignment of the Franchise Agreement or control thereof without 

the approval of the Franchising Authority; 

(iv) For failure to maintain a Bond as described in Section 7.4 or to maintain insurance as 

described in Section 7.2 (a hearing is not required for revocation for failure to 

maintain the Bond or required insurance policies). 

SECTION 7.7 – REMOVAL OF SYSTEM OPEN 

In accordance with applicable law, upon termination of the Franchise Agreement or of any 

renewal hereof by passage of time or otherwise, the Franchisee shall remove its Cable System, supporting 

structures, poles, transmission and distribution systems and other appurtenances from the Public Ways 

and other public places in, over, under, or along which they are installed and shall restore the areas to their 

original condition.  If such removal is not completed within six (6) months of such termination, the 

Franchising Authority may draw on the performance bond, may deem any property not removed as 

having been abandoned, or at the Franchisee’s expense, the Franchising Authority may remove or cause to 

be removed any components of the Cable System and restore the areas to their original condition.  

 

SECTION 7.8 - INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE 

All presently and hereafter applicable conditions and requirements of Federal and State law and 

the rules and regulations of the FCC, as they may be amended from time to time, are incorporated herein 

by reference and shall control the interpretation and performance of this Franchise to the extent that any 

provision of this Franchise conflicts with or is inconsistent with such laws, rules or regulations. 

 

SECTION 7.9 - EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY 

Franchisee is an Equal Opportunity Employer and shall comply with applicable FCC regulations with 

respect to Equal Employment Opportunities.  

 



 

37 

 

ARTICLE 8 - MISCELLANEOUS 

SECTION 8.1 - SEVERABILITY 

If any Section, paragraph, term or provision of this Franchise Agreement is determined to be 

illegal, invalid or unconstitutional by any court of competent jurisdiction or by any State or Federal 

regulatory agency having jurisdiction thereof, such determination shall have no effect on any other 

Section, paragraph, term or provision hereof, all of which will remain in full force and effect for the term 

of this Franchise Agreement or any extensions thereof. 

SECTION 8.2 - FORCE MAJEURE 

If for any reason of force majeure the Franchisee is unable in whole or in part to carry out its 

obligations hereunder, said Franchisee shall not be deemed in violation or default during the continuance 

of such inability. Unless further limited elsewhere in this Franchise Agreement, the term force majeure as 

used herein shall have the following meaning: strikes; acts of God; acts of public enemies; orders of any 

kind of government of the United States of America or of the State of New Hampshire or any of their 

departments, agencies, political subdivisions, or officials, or any civil or military authority; insurrections; 

riots; epidemics; landslides; lightning; earthquakes; tornados; fires; hurricanes; volcanic activity; storms; 

floods; washouts; droughts; arrests; civil disturbances; explosions; partial or entire failure of utilities; or 

any other cause or event not reasonably within the Franchisee's control. 

SECTION 8.3 - NOTICES 

Every notice to be served upon the Franchising Authority shall be delivered or sent by certified 

mail (postage prepaid) to: 
 

Attn: Selectboard 
Town of Stratham 
10 Bunker Hill Avenue 
Stratham, NH  03885 

  



 

38 

 

or such other address as the Franchise Authority may specify in writing to the Franchisee. Every notice 

served upon the Franchisee shall be delivered or sent by certified mail (postage prepaid) to: 

 
Comcast Cable Communications, Inc. 
Attn:  Government Relations 
 5 Omni Way Chelmsford , MA   01824 

with copies to: 
Comcast Cable Communications, Inc. 
Attn:  Vice President, Government Affairs 
676 Island Pond Road 
Manchester, NH 03109 
 
Comcast Cable Communications, Inc. 
Attn:  Government Affairs 
One Comcast Center 
Philadelphia, PA  19103 

or such other address as the Franchisee may specify in writing to the Franchise Authority.  The delivery 

shall be equivalent to direct personal notice, direction or order, and shall be deemed to have been given at 

the time of receipt. 

SECTION 8.4 - AMENDMENT OR MODIFICATION 

This Franchise shall not be amended or modified except by written agreement following a public 

hearing of the proposed amendment in a manner consistent with the relevant publication and notice 

provisions of RSA 43:2 and 43:3. 

SECTION 8.5 - DELEGATION 

Town may delegate to any Town official, employee, agency or commission the authority to 

exercise any of Town's rights hereunder which may lawfully be so delegated. 

SECTION 8.6 – CHOICE OF FORUM/JURISDICTION AND CHOICE OF LAW 

(a)  If the Franchisee or the Franchising Authority wishes to bring against the other a civil action 

or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Franchise, such action or proceeding may be filed only in a 

state or federal court in the State of New Hampshire and any and all reference in this Agreement to a 



 

39 

 

“court of competent jurisdiction” refers specifically and solely to a state or federal court in the State of 

New Hampshire.. 

(b)  For this purpose, each party consents to personal jurisdiction in such state or federal court in 

the State of New Hampshire and waives any right to dismiss or transfer such action or proceeding 

because of the inconvenience of the forum. 

(c)  Nothing in this section shall prevent enforcement in another forum of any judgment obtained 

in a court identified in subsection (a).  

(d)  This Agreement shall be construed under New Hampshire substantive law without regard to 

any rules governing choice of law. 

 SECTION 8.7 - FINAL AGREEMENT 

The Agreement stated herein, in writing, constitutes the final and entire agreement between the 

parties. 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereunto have caused this Franchise to be executed by their 

duly-authorized representative(s) this ____ day of September, 2021. 

TOWN OF STRATHAM 

By its Selectboard 
 
_____________________________ 
Michael Houghton, Chair 
 
_____________________________ 
Joseph Lovejoy 
 
_____________________________ 
Allison Knab 
 

Accepted by: 
COMCAST OF MAINE/NEW 
HAMPSHIRE, INC. 

 
______________________________ 



 

40 

 

Name:   
Title:   
Duly authorized 

  



 

41 

 

 

Exhibit A - Channel Offerings 
 
 
 
 

Please see attached. 
  



 

42 

 

 
 

Exhibit B - Customer Service Regulations 
 
 
Code of Federal Regulations 47 C.F.R. § 76.309 

  
(a) A cable franchise authority may enforce the customer service standards set forth in paragraph (c) of this section 
against cable operators. The franchise authority must provide affected cable operators ninety (90) days written 
notice of its intent to enforce the standards. 
 
(b) Nothing in this rule should be construed to prevent or prohibit: 
 
 (1) A franchising authority and a cable operator from agreeing to customer service requirements that 
exceed the standards set forth in paragraph (c) of this section; 
 
 (2) A franchising authority from enforcing, through the end of the franchise term, pre-existing customer 
service requirements that exceed the standards set forth in paragraph (c) of this section and are contained in current 
franchise agreements; 
 
 (3) Any State or any franchising authority from enacting or enforcing any consumer protection law, to the 
extent not specifically preempted herein; or 
 
 (4) The establishment or enforcement of any State or municipal law or regulation concerning customer 
service that imposes customer service requirements that exceed, or address matters not addressed by the standards 
set forth in paragraph (c) of this section. 
 
(c) Cable operators shall be subject to the following customer service standards: 
 
 (1) Cable system office hours and telephone availability-- 
 
  (i) The cable operator will maintain a local, toll-free or collect call telephone access line which will be 
available to its subscribers 24 hours a day, seven days a week. 
 
   (A) Trained company representatives will be available to respond to customer telephone inquiries 
during normal business hours. 
 
   (B) After normal business hours, the access line may be answered by a service or an automated 
response system, including an answering machine. Inquiries received after normal business hours must be 
responded to by a trained company representative on the next business day. 
 
  (ii) Under normal operating conditions, telephone answer time by a customer representative, including 
wait time, shall not exceed thirty (30) seconds when the connection is made. If the call needs to be transferred, 
transfer time shall not exceed thirty (30) seconds. These standards shall be met no less than ninety (90) percent of 
the time under normal operating conditions, measured on a quarterly basis. 
 
  (iii) The operator will not be required to acquire equipment or perform surveys to measure compliance 
with the telephone answering standards above unless an historical record of complaints indicates a clear failure to 
comply. 
 



 

43 

 

  (iv) Under normal operating conditions, the customer will receive a busy signal less than three (3) 
percent of the time. 
 
  (v) Customer service center and bill payment locations will be open at least during normal business 
hours and will be conveniently located. 
 
 (2) Installations, outages and service calls. Under normal operating conditions, each of the following four 
standards will be met no less than ninety-five (95) percent of the time measured on a quarterly basis: 
 
  (i) Standard installations will be performed within seven (7) business days after an order has been 
placed. “Standard’’ installations are those that are located up to 125 feet from the existing distribution system. 
 
  (ii) Excluding conditions beyond the control of the operator, the cable operator will begin working on 
“service interruptions’’ promptly and in no event later than 24 hours after the interruption becomes Known. The 
cable operator must begin actions to correct other service problems the next business day after notification of the 
service problem. 
 
  (iii) The “appointment window’’ alternatives for installations, service calls, and other installation 
activities will be either a specific time or, at maximum, a four-hour time block during normal business hours. (The 
operator may schedule service calls and other installation activities outside of normal business hours for the express 
convenience of the customer.) 
 
  (iv) An operator may not cancel an appointment with a customer after the close of business on the 
business day prior to the scheduled appointment. 
 
  (v) If a cable operator representative is running late for an appointment with a customer and will not be 
able to keep the appointment as scheduled, the customer will be contacted. The appointment will be rescheduled, as 
necessary, at a time that is convenient for the customer. 
 
 (3) Communications between cable operators and cable subscribers-- 
 
  (i) Refunds--Refund checks will be issued promptly, but no later than either-- 
 
   (A) The customer’s next billing cycle following resolution of the request or thirty (30) days, 
whichever is earlier, or 
 
   (B) The return of the equipment supplied by the cable operator if service is terminated. 
 
  (ii) Credits--Credits for service will be issued no later than the customer’s next billing cycle following 
the determination that a credit is warranted. 
 
 (4) Definitions-- 
 
  (i) Normal business hours--The term “normal business hours’’ means those hours during which most 
similar businesses in the community are open to serve customers. In all cases, “normal business hours’’ must 
include some evening hours at least one night per week and/or some weekend hours. 
 
  (ii) Normal operating conditions--The term “normal operating conditions’’ means those service 
conditions which are within the control of the cable operator. Those conditions which are not within the control of 
the cable operator include, but are not limited to, natural disasters, civil disturbances, power outages, telephone 
network outages, and severe or unusual weather conditions. Those conditions which are ordinarily within the 
control of the cable operator include, but are not limited to, special promotions, Pay-Per-View events, rate 
increases, regular peak or seasonal demand periods, and maintenance or upgrade of the cable system. 



 

44 

 

 
 (iii) Service interruption--The term “service interruption’’ means the loss of picture or sound on one or 

more cable channels. 

 

Regulations Re: Notifications 
 

Sec. 76.1602  Customer service--general information. 
 
 
    (a) A cable franchise authority may enforce the customer service standards set forth in paragraph (b) of this 
section against cable operators.  The franchise authority must provide affected cable operators 90 days written 
notice of its intent to enforce standards. 
 
    (b) The cable operator shall provide written information on each of the following areas at the time of installation 
of service, at least annually to all subscribers, and at any time upon request: 
 
    (1) Products and services offered; 
 
    (2) Prices and options for programming services and conditions of subscription to programming and other 
services; 
 
    (3) Installation and service maintenance policies; 
 
    (4) Instructions on how to use the cable service; 
 
    (5) Channel positions of programming carried on the system; and 
 
    (6) Billing and complaint procedures, including the address and telephone number of the local franchise 
authority's cable office. 
 
    (c) Subscribers shall be advised of the procedures for resolution of complaints about the quality of the television 
signal delivered by the cable system operator, including the address of the responsible officer of the local 
franchising authority. 
 
Sec. 76.1603  Customer service--rate and service changes. 
 
 
    (a) A cable franchise authority may enforce the customer service standards set forth in paragraph (b) of this 
section against cable operators.  The franchise authority must provide affected cable operators 90 days written 
notice of its intent to enforce standards. 
 
   (b) Cable operators shall provide written notice to subscribers of any changes in rates or services. Notice shall be 
provided to subscribers at least 30 days in advance of the change, unless the change results from circumstances 
outside of the cable operator's control (including failed retransmission consent or program carriage negotiations 
during the last 30 days of a contract), in which case notice shall be provided as soon as possible using any 
reasonable written means at the operator's sole discretion, including Channel Slates. Notice of rate changes shall 
include the precise amount of the rate change and explain the reason for the change in readily understandable terms. 
Notice of changes involving the addition or deletion of channels shall individually identify each channel affected. 
 



 

45 

 

   (c) A cable operator not subject to effective competition shall provide 30 days' advance notice to its local 
franchising authority of any increase proposed in the price to be charged for the basic service tier. 
 
   (d) Notwithstanding any other provision of part 76 of this chapter, a cable operator shall not be required to 
provide prior notice of any rate change that is the result of a regulatory fee, franchise fee, or any other fee, tax, 
assessment, or charge of any kind imposed by any Federal agency, State, or franchising authority on the transaction 
between the operator and the subscriber. 
 
 
 
    Note 1 to Sec. 76.1603: Section 624(h) of the Communications Act, 47 U.S.C. 544(h), contains additional 
notification requirements which a franchising authority may enforce. 
 
    Note 2 to Sec. 76.1603: Section 624(d)(3) of the Communications Act, 47 U.S.C. 544(d)(3), contains additional 
notification provisions pertaining to cable operators who offer a premium channel without charge to cable 
subscribers who do not subscribe to such premium channel. 
 
    Note 3 to Sec. 76.1603: Section 631 of the Communications Act, 47 U.S.C. 551, contains additional notification 
requirements pertaining to the protection of subscriber privacy. 
 
Sec. 76.1619  Information on subscriber bills. 
 
 
    (a) Effective July 1, 1993, bills must be clear, concise and understandable. Bills must be fully itemized, with 
itemizations including, but not limited to, basic and premium service charges and equipment charges.  Bills will 
also clearly delineate all activity during the billing period, including optional charges, rebates and credits. 
 
    (b) In case of a billing dispute, the cable operator must respond to a written complaint from a subscriber within 
30 days. The required response may be delivered by email, if the consumer used email to make the request or 
complaint directly to the cable operator, or if the consumer specifies email as the preferred delivery method in the 
request or complaint.   
 
    (c) A cable franchise authority may enforce the customer service standards set forth in this section against cable 
operators.  The franchise authority must provide affected cable operators 90 days written notice of its intent to 
enforce standards. 
  



 

46 

 

 

Exhibit C - Privacy Laws 
 
47 USC § 551. Protection of subscriber privacy 
 

(a) Notice to subscriber regarding personally identifiable information; definitions  
(1) At the time of entering into an agreement to provide any cable service or other service to a 
subscriber and at least once a year thereafter, a cable operator shall provide notice in the form of 
a separate, written statement to such subscriber which clearly and conspicuously informs the 
subscriber of—  

(A) the nature of personally identifiable information collected or to be collected with 
respect to the subscriber and the nature of the use of such information;  
(B) the nature, frequency, and purpose of any disclosure which may be made of such 
information, including an identification of the types of persons to whom the disclosure 
may be made;  
(C) the period during which such information will be maintained by the cable operator;  
(D) the times and place at which the subscriber may have access to such information in 
accordance with subsection (d) of this section; and  
(E) the limitations provided by this section with respect to the collection and disclosure of 
information by a cable operator and the right of the subscriber under subsections (f) and 
(h) of this section to enforce such limitations.  

In the case of subscribers who have entered into such an agreement before the effective date of 
this section, such notice shall be provided within 180 days of such date and at least once a year 
thereafter.  
(2) For purposes of this section, other than subsection (h) of this section—  

(A) the term “personally identifiable information” does not include any record of 
aggregate data which does not identify particular persons;  
(B) the term “other service” includes any wire or radio communications service provided 
using any of the facilities of a cable operator that are used in the provision of cable service; 
and  
(C) the term “cable operator” includes, in addition to persons within the definition of cable 
operator in section 522 of this title, any person who  

(i) is owned or controlled by, or under common ownership or control with, a cable 
operator, and  
(ii) provides any wire or radio communications service.  

(b) Collection of personally identifiable information using cable system  
(1) Except as provided in paragraph (2), a cable operator shall not use the cable system to 
collect personally identifiable information concerning any subscriber without the prior written 
or electronic consent of the subscriber concerned.  
(2) A cable operator may use the cable system to collect such information in order to—  

(A) obtain information necessary to render a cable service or other service provided by the 
cable operator to the subscriber; or  
(B) detect unauthorized reception of cable communications.  

(c) Disclosure of personally identifiable information  
(1) Except as provided in paragraph (2), a cable operator shall not disclose personally 
identifiable information concerning any subscriber without the prior written or electronic 
consent of the subscriber concerned and shall take such actions as are necessary to prevent 

http://assembler.law.cornell.edu/uscode/html/uscode47/usc_sec_47_00000522----000-.html


 

47 

 

unauthorized access to such information by a person other than the subscriber or cable operator.  
(2) A cable operator may disclose such information if the disclosure is—  

(A) necessary to render, or conduct a legitimate business activity related to, a cable service 
or other service provided by the cable operator to the subscriber;  
(B) subject to subsection (h) of this section, made pursuant to a court order authorizing 
such disclosure, if the subscriber is notified of such order by the person to whom the order 
is directed;  
(C) a disclosure of the names and addresses of subscribers to any cable service or other 
service, if—  

(i) the cable operator has provided the subscriber the opportunity to prohibit or limit 
such disclosure, and  
(ii) the disclosure does not reveal, directly or indirectly, the—  

(I) extent of any viewing or other use by the subscriber of a cable service or other 
service provided by the cable operator, or  
(II) the nature of any transaction made by the subscriber over the cable system of 
the cable operator; or  

(D) to a government entity as authorized under chapters 119, 121, or 206 of title 18, except 
that such disclosure shall not include records revealing cable subscriber selection of video 
programming from a cable operator.  

(d) Subscriber access to information  
A cable subscriber shall be provided access to all personally identifiable information regarding that 
subscriber which is collected and maintained by a cable operator. Such information shall be made 
available to the subscriber at reasonable times and at a convenient place designated by such cable 
operator. A cable subscriber shall be provided reasonable opportunity to correct any error in such 
information.  
(e) Destruction of information  
A cable operator shall destroy personally identifiable information if the information is no longer 
necessary for the purpose for which it was collected and there are no pending requests or orders for 
access to such information under subsection (d) of this section or pursuant to a court order.  
(f) Civil action in United States district court; damages; attorney’s fees and costs; nonexclusive 
nature of remedy  

(1) Any person aggrieved by any act of a cable operator in violation of this section may bring a 
civil action in a United States district court.  
(2) The court may award—  

(A) actual damages but not less than liquidated damages computed at the rate of $100 a 
day for each day of violation or $1,000, whichever is higher;  
(B) punitive damages; and  
(C) reasonable attorneys’ fees and other litigation costs reasonably incurred.  

(3) The remedy provided by this section shall be in addition to any other lawful remedy 
available to a cable subscriber.  

(g) Regulation by States or franchising authorities  
Nothing in this subchapter shall be construed to prohibit any State or any franchising authority from 
enacting or enforcing laws consistent with this section for the protection of subscriber privacy.  
(h) Disclosure of information to governmental entity pursuant to court order  
Except as provided in subsection (c)(2)(D) of this section, a governmental entity may obtain 
personally identifiable information concerning a cable subscriber pursuant to a court order only if, in 
the court proceeding relevant to such court order—  

  

http://assembler.law.cornell.edu/uscode/html/uscode18/usc_sup_01_18.html


 

48 

 

(1) such entity offers clear and convincing evidence that the subject of the information is 
reasonably suspected of engaging in criminal activity and that the information sought would be 
material evidence in the case; and  
 
(2) the subject of the information is afforded the opportunity to appear and contest such entity’s 
claim. 

  



 

49 

 

 

Exhibit D - Current Schedule of Rates and Charges 
 
 
 

Please see attached. 
 
  



 

50 

 

 

Exhibit E - Form of Annual Report 
to Stratham, NH for ___________(year) 

 
 

Location of and hours of Payment Center: 

 

Location of and hours of Customer Service Office: 

 

Customer Service Telephone Number:  

 

Location of Headend (Reception Facility): 

 

Franchise Fee Paid: $_______________ 

 

Contact Person to Service Unresolved Customer Complaints: 

 

Updated Labor/Material Costs (if applicable) for installation over 250 feet from existing plant: 

 

Upon written request from the Franchising Authority, Franchisee shall also provide the following: 

 

Customer Service Statistics: 

 
a) Number of reports of system outages and response time for such outages: 

 
b) A summary of written complaints and brief description re: resolution of such complaints: 

 
Updated Labor/Material Costs (if applicable) for Installation over 250 feet from existing plant: 
 
 



From: David Moore
To: Karen Richard
Subject: FW: CDC/ATSDR Pease Health Study - Assistance requested
Date: Friday, July 23, 2021 11:19:50 AM
Attachments: image002.png

Pease Study-Community-Factsheet-H.pdf

Karen,
 
Can you please combine this e-mail and two attachments into a “correspondence” item for the

Select Board’s agenda for August 2nd?  “Request from CDC Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease
Registry regarding Pease Tradeport PFAS Study”.  I have spoken with Ms. Mutter and clarified that
her agenda could deploy the signs and collect them on a timeframe approved by the Board.  She

suggests an October date (October 5th).  I have made her aware of the separate PFAS issue in
Stratham, and she has indicated that her study call center would be happy to have a message
pertaining to the difference between the Pease PFAS site and study and the Town Center PFAS issue.
 
Thank you.
 
David M.
 

From: Mutter, Jamie (ATSDR/OAD/OCHHA) <zwy4@cdc.gov> 
Sent: Wednesday, July 21, 2021 11:50 AM
To: David Moore <dmoore@StrathamNH.gov>
Cc: 'Kate Durocher' <Kate_Durocher@abtassoc.com>; Launi, Lori (ATSDR/OAD/OD) <lwe8@cdc.gov>
Subject: CDC/ATSDR Pease Health Study - Assistance requested
 
Good Morning Mr. Moore,
 
I work for the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) and Agency for Toxic Substances
and Disease Registry (ATSDR). We are currently conducting a health study, the Pease Study, looking
at the human health effects of PFAS exposure through contaminated drinking water at the Pease
International Tradeport (see attached factsheet).  
We would like to reach the people who may be eligible in your town as some of your citizens may
have worked (or know people who worked) at the Pease International Tradeport. We are recruiting
adults who worked or children who attended daycare at Tradeport anytime from January 2004 to
May 2014. I’ve provided more details on eligibility requirements in the links below.
We recently were able to place yard signs around Portsmouth (see attached picture) and the Pease
Tradeport to spread the word about the CDC/ATSDR Study. We have found yard signs to be
especially helpful for recruitment. We are hopeful the Town of Stratham would be interested in
accommodating yard signs as well. We would like to put yard signs around Stratham in prominent
places that would reach the most people, such as high traffic intersections. If this is an idea that
Stratham would support, what would be the necessary steps we need to take in order to proceed?
We would be happy to set up a call with you and your staff to answer any questions about this very
important health study. Any assistance you can provide is greatly appreciated.
Thank you again for the consideration.

mailto:dmoore@StrathamNH.gov
mailto:KRichard@StrathamNH.gov

ATSDR tqory o ssencosensoamoriy







What are PFAS?


PFAS are human-made chemicals used since the 
1950s in a variety of products, including some 
cosmetics; water, grease, and oil-resistant products; 
and firefighting foam. Scientists are still learning how 
PFAS exposure affects human health, but research 
involving humans suggests that high levels of certain 
PFAS may lead to the following:


Why  are CDC and ATSDR doing a 
study on PFAS in Portsmouth and the 
surrounding areas?


Portsmouth, New Hampshire and the surrounding areas 
were selected for the study because residents were 
exposed to drinking water that contained PFAS.


CDC and ATSDR are recruiting participants for a study 
to evaluate their PFAS blood levels, health measures 
like cholesterol levels and thyroid function, and medical 
history to learn how PFAS may affect health.  


CDC and ATSDR want to understand more about PFAS 
human health effects since little is known and because some 
studies have shown that PFAS may harm human health. 
 
 
  


Who  may be eligible for the health study? 
Some of the eligibility criteria  includes:


An adult aged 18 or older who 


•		worked or attended school at Pease International 
Tradeport anytime from January 2004 to May 2014, or


•	lived in Newington at anytime from January 
2004 to the present and used a private well with 
documented PFAS contamination.


A child aged 4 through 17 who has parent or guardian 
permission and


•	attended daycare at Pease International Tradeport 
at anytime from January 2004 to May 2014, or


•	was born to and/or breastfed by a mother who 
meets the adult eligibility criteria.


A small group of adults and children who do not meet 
the criteria above may also be eligible to participate. 
Eligibility will be screened through the Pease Study  
call center. 


INFORMATION �TO PROTECT OUR �COMMUNITIES


The Pease Study: PFAS Health Effects


The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) and the 
Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry (ATSDR) 
are studying the health effects from drinking PFAS (per- 
and polyfluoroalkyl substances)-contaminated water  
in the Portsmouth, New Hampshire area.   


•	 In April and May 2014, tests found PFAS in drinking 
water from Pease International Tradeport Public  
Water System (PWS). 


•	You may be able to participate in the study if you live 
or have lived in or near Portsmouth, NH and meet 
eligibility criteria.


•	Increased cholesterol levels


•	Changes in liver enzymes


•	Decreased vaccine response in children


•	Increased risk of high blood pressure or pre-
eclampsia in pregnant women 


•	Small decreases in infant birth weights 


•	Increased risk of kidney or testicular cancer


Pease International Tradeport, NH







Pease International Tradeport, NH


How did PFAS get into drinking water?


PFAS containing aqueous film-forming foam (AFFF) 
may have gotten into public and private wells during 
firefighting and firefighting training on the former Pease 
Air Force Base. When the City of Portsmouth learned 
of PFAS water contamination, it closed the most 
contaminated well supplying the Pease Tradeport 
drinking water system May 2014. 


What types of tests will Pease Study 
researchers do?


Trained health professionals will be:


•	Testing blood and urine samples; 


•	Taking body measurements;


•	Asking about medical history; and


•	Studying behaviors in child participants. 


What are some benefits to Pease Study 
participants?


Participants will:


How are participant’s results 
handled?


•	CDC and ATSDR are careful to 
protect personal information and 
conceal every participant’s identity.


Who analyzes test results?


•	Researchers will analyze test results 
to learn more about the possible 
health effects of PFAS exposure.


When will the results be available?


•	After the study ends and the 
results are analyzed, CDC and 
ATSDR will share results as soon 
as possible and will write and share 
a report with the public.


•	Help scientists understand how PFAS affect health. 


•	Receive their individual test results, which they can share with their doctors to monitor their health.


•	Receive up to $75 in gift cards for completing the entire study.


Do you want to know more?


For general information about PFAS or the Pease Study you can: 


Visit https://www.atsdr.cdc.gov/pfas/Pease-Study.html
Call: 1-800-CDC-INFO (232-4636)
Email: PeaseStudy@cdc.gov   
To see if you are eligible to participate in the Pease Study, you can call the Pease Study call center beginning  
October 25, 2019.  The number is: 603-846-6192. The call center will screen you for eligibility and provide  
information on next steps.







Jamie
Information on Pease Study: https://www.atsdr.cdc.gov/pfas/activities/pease.html
Pease Study Fact Sheet: https://www.atsdr.cdc.gov/pfas/activities/pease/community-fact-
sheet.html
Pease Study Video: https://youtu.be/nUT2ih9buUw
 
Jamie Mutter, MS, MPH, REHS, NHDP-BC
CDR, US Public Health Service
Environmental Health Officer
Office of Community Health and Hazard Assessment (OCHHA)
Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry (ATSDR)
Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC)
zwy4@cdc.gov | 404.498.6664 office

 

https://www.atsdr.cdc.gov/pfas/activities/pease.html
https://www.atsdr.cdc.gov/pfas/activities/pease/community-fact-sheet.html
https://www.atsdr.cdc.gov/pfas/activities/pease/community-fact-sheet.html
https://youtu.be/nUT2ih9buUw
mailto:zwy4@cdc.gov
https://www.atsdr.cdc.gov/


What are PFAS?

PFAS are human-made chemicals used since the 
1950s in a variety of products, including some 
cosmetics; water, grease, and oil-resistant products; 
and firefighting foam. Scientists are still learning how 
PFAS exposure affects human health, but research 
involving humans suggests that high levels of certain 
PFAS may lead to the following:

Why  are CDC and ATSDR doing a 
study on PFAS in Portsmouth and the 
surrounding areas?

Portsmouth, New Hampshire and the surrounding areas 
were selected for the study because residents were 
exposed to drinking water that contained PFAS.

CDC and ATSDR are recruiting participants for a study 
to evaluate their PFAS blood levels, health measures 
like cholesterol levels and thyroid function, and medical 
history to learn how PFAS may affect health.  

CDC and ATSDR want to understand more about PFAS 
human health effects since little is known and because some 
studies have shown that PFAS may harm human health. 
 
 
  

Who  may be eligible for the health study? 
Some of the eligibility criteria  includes:

An adult aged 18 or older who 

•		worked or attended school at Pease International 
Tradeport anytime from January 2004 to May 2014, or

•	lived in Newington at anytime from January 
2004 to the present and used a private well with 
documented PFAS contamination.

A child aged 4 through 17 who has parent or guardian 
permission and

•	attended daycare at Pease International Tradeport 
at anytime from January 2004 to May 2014, or

•	was born to and/or breastfed by a mother who 
meets the adult eligibility criteria.

A small group of adults and children who do not meet 
the criteria above may also be eligible to participate. 
Eligibility will be screened through the Pease Study  
call center. 

INFORMATION �TO PROTECT OUR �COMMUNITIES

The Pease Study: PFAS Health Effects

The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) and the 
Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry (ATSDR) 
are studying the health effects from drinking PFAS (per- 
and polyfluoroalkyl substances)-contaminated water  
in the Portsmouth, New Hampshire area.   

•	 In April and May 2014, tests found PFAS in drinking 
water from Pease International Tradeport Public  
Water System (PWS). 

•	You may be able to participate in the study if you live 
or have lived in or near Portsmouth, NH and meet 
eligibility criteria.

•	Increased cholesterol levels

•	Changes in liver enzymes

•	Decreased vaccine response in children

•	Increased risk of high blood pressure or pre-
eclampsia in pregnant women 

•	Small decreases in infant birth weights 

•	Increased risk of kidney or testicular cancer

Pease International Tradeport, NH



Pease International Tradeport, NH

How did PFAS get into drinking water?

PFAS containing aqueous film-forming foam (AFFF) 
may have gotten into public and private wells during 
firefighting and firefighting training on the former Pease 
Air Force Base. When the City of Portsmouth learned 
of PFAS water contamination, it closed the most 
contaminated well supplying the Pease Tradeport 
drinking water system May 2014. 

What types of tests will Pease Study 
researchers do?

Trained health professionals will be:

•	Testing blood and urine samples; 

•	Taking body measurements;

•	Asking about medical history; and

•	Studying behaviors in child participants. 

What are some benefits to Pease Study 
participants?

Participants will:

How are participant’s results 
handled?

•	CDC and ATSDR are careful to 
protect personal information and 
conceal every participant’s identity.

Who analyzes test results?

•	Researchers will analyze test results 
to learn more about the possible 
health effects of PFAS exposure.

When will the results be available?

•	After the study ends and the 
results are analyzed, CDC and 
ATSDR will share results as soon 
as possible and will write and share 
a report with the public.

•	Help scientists understand how PFAS affect health. 

•	Receive their individual test results, which they can share with their doctors to monitor their health.

•	Receive up to $75 in gift cards for completing the entire study.

Do you want to know more?

For general information about PFAS or the Pease Study you can: 

Visit https://www.atsdr.cdc.gov/pfas/Pease-Study.html
Call: 1-800-CDC-INFO (232-4636)
Email: PeaseStudy@cdc.gov   
To see if you are eligible to participate in the Pease Study, you can call the Pease Study call center beginning  
October 25, 2019.  The number is: 603-846-6192. The call center will screen you for eligibility and provide  
information on next steps.





 TOWN OF STRATHAM  
Incorporated 1716 

10 Bunker Hill Avenue ∙ Stratham, NH 03885 
Town Clerk/Tax Collector 603-772-4741 

Select Board /Administration/Assessing 603-772-7391 
Code Enforcement/Building Inspections/Planning 603-772-7391 

Fax (All Offices) 603-775-0517 

 

TO:       Select Board Members 
 

FROM:  Mark Connors, AICP, Town Planner  
 

DATE: July 28, 2021 
 

RE:  Appointment of Joseph Johnson, PE, PTOE, to the Rockingham RPC 
 

 

Joseph Johnson, a longtime resident of Stratham and Vice President and Director of Traffic 

Engineering for the New England branch of Greenman Pedersen, Inc., has submitted an 

application to serve as one of the Town’s Commissioners on the Rockingham Planning 

Commission. By state statute, Stratham is allocated two RPC Commissioners. Lucy Cushman 

serves as one Commissioner and the other has been vacant for some time. 

 

Mr. Johnson’s professional background and interests align superlatively to serve in this role. He 

earned a Bachelor of Science in Civil Engineering from Clarkson University and a Bachelor of 

Arts in Liberal Studies from Saint Michael’s College. A licensed Professional Engineer and 

Professional Traffic Operations Engineer, his engineering career has spanned 23 years in traffic, 

highway and ‘complete streets’ design. He has been responsible for roundabout design, traffic 

signal design, traffic calming, road safety audits, safety analyses, construction phase services, 

intersection capacity analyses, traffic management, quantity and cost estimating, supplemental 

specification preparation, and traffic simulation projects A member of Plan NH, Mr. Johnson 

previously served on the Town’s Technical Advisory Committee.  

 

State law prescribes that nominations for Commissioner positions first be made by the Planning 

Board for consideration of appointment by the Select Board. At its July 21, 2021 meeting, the 

Planning Board nominated Mr. Johnson for the Select Board’s consideration of appointment. 

Term lengths are for two or four years and Mr. Johnson has requested a two-year term. The 

Planning Board expressed confidence that Mr. Johnson would serve the Town well in this role. 

 

 



TOWN OF STRATHAM 
Incorporated 1716 

10 Bunker Hill Avenue • Stratham, NH 03885 

Voice (603) 772-7391 • Fax (603) 775-0517 • www.strathamnh.gov 
 

 

COMMITTEE APPOINTMENT APPLICATION 
 

____ Heritage Commission    ____ Zoning Board of Adjustment 

____ Planning Board     ____ Public Works Commission 

____ Conservation Commission   ____ Recreation Commission 

____ Stratham Fair Committee   ____ Energy Commission  

 ____ Exeter Squamscott River Advisory Committee ____ Rockingham Planning Commission

 ____ Pedestrian & Cyclist Advocacy Committee ____ Other ________________________ 

 

 
Applicant Name (print)       Phone # 

Address         Email 

Registered Voter of Stratham? ____YES ____ NO Number of Years as a Resident ____  

 

 

I would like to be considered by the Select Board for appointment to a town/board/commission/ 

committee indicated above because:  

 

 

 

 

 

 

I feel the following experience and background qualifies me for this position:  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Signature of Applicant Date 

http://www.strathamnh.gov/
GPI-Joe Johnson
Text Box
sidewalks, etc.  I am a licensed Professional Engineer in the State of NH.

GPI-Joe Johnson
Text Box
Stratham, but I am interested in learning more about the overall region and the

process for ranking projects. 


	SB Packet 8 2 2021
	SB Memo 8-2-21
	SB Agenda 8 2 2021
	7 19 2021 sb draft minutes
	Rockingham County Finance Office 7-21-21
	Correspondance regarding traffic safety and Lovell and Gifford Farm Roads
	Legal Notice - Comcast - 8-2-2021

	Stratham Cable Franchise Renewal Draft edits 7.13.2021.Revised with Comcast edits.CLEAN
	ARTICLE 1 -DEFINITIONS
	SECTION 1.1 – DEFINITIONS

	ARTICLE 2 - GRANT OF FRANCHISE
	SECTION 2.1 - GRANT OF FRANCHISE
	SECTION 2.2 - TERM
	SECTION 2.3 - RENEWAL OF FRANCHISE
	SECTION 2.4 – FRANCHISE FEE
	SECTION 2.6 - EQUAL PROTECTION PROVISION [SEE RSA 53-C:3-B]
	SECTION 2.7 - RESERVATION OF AUTHORITY
	SECTION 2.8 - POLE ATTACHMENT RIGHTS
	SECTION 2.9 - POLICE AND REGULATORY POWERS

	ARTICLE 3 - SYSTEM SPECIFICATIONS AND CONSTRUCTION
	SECTION 3.1 - SERVICE AREA; LINE EXTENSIONS
	SECTION 3.2 – SUBSCRIBER CONNECTION
	SECTION 3.3 – CABLE SYSTEM
	SECTION 3.4 - CONSTRUCTION
	SECTION 3.5 - PARENTAL CONTROL CAPABILITY
	SECTION 3.6 – PEG ACCESS PROGRAMMING
	SECTION 3.7 – LIVE PEG ACCESS CABLECASTING
	SECTION 3.8 - PROGRAMMING EXCLUSIVITY AND NON-COMPETITION
	SECTION 3.9 – INTERCONNECTION WITH COMPETING CABLE FRANCHISEE
	SECTION 3.10 – FRANCHISE RELATED COST
	SECTION 3.11 - EMERGENCY OVERRIDE
	SECTION 3.12 - DELIVERY OF SIGNALS
	SECTION 3.13 - LEASED ACCESS CHANNELS
	SECTION 3.14 - MUNICIPAL CABLE DROPS TO CABLE SYSTEM

	ARTICLE 4 - TECHNOLOGICAL AND SAFETY STANDARDS
	SECTION 4.1 - SYSTEM MAINTENANCE
	SECTION 4.2 - REPAIRS AND RESTORATION
	SECTION 4.3 - CABLE LOCATION
	SECTION 4.4 - TREE TRIMMING
	SECTION 4.5 - STRAND MAPS
	SECTION 4.6 - EMERGENCY POWER
	SECTION 4.7 - RESIDENTIAL EXTERIOR WIRING
	SECTION 4.8 - BUILDING MOVES
	SECTION 4.9 - DIG SAFE

	ARTICLE 5 – CUSTOMER SERVICE, MARKETING OF SERVICES AND CONSUMER PROTECTION
	SECTION 5.1 - CUSTOMER SERVICE
	SECTION 5.2 - TERMINATION OF SERVICE
	SECTION 5.3 - SERVICE INTERRUPTIONS
	SECTION 5.4 - IDENTIFICATION
	SECTION 5.5 - SUBSCRIBER PRIVACY AND RIGHTS TO INFORMATION

	ARTICLE 6 - RATES AND CHARGES
	SECTION 6.1 - RATES AND CHARGES

	ARTICLE 7 - REGULATORY OVERSIGHT
	SECTION 7.1 - INDEMNIFICATION
	SECTION 7.2 - INSURANCE
	SECTION 7.3 - REPORTS
	SECTION 7.4 - PERFORMANCE BOND
	SECTION 7.5 - NOTICE OF OPPORTUNITY TO CURE
	SECTION 7.6 - REVOCATION OF FRANCHISE; DEFAULT
	SECTION 7.7 – REMOVAL OF SYSTEM OPEN
	SECTION 7.8 - INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE
	SECTION 7.9 - EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY

	ARTICLE 8 - MISCELLANEOUS
	SECTION 8.1 - SEVERABILITY
	SECTION 8.2 - FORCE MAJEURE
	SECTION 8.3 - NOTICES
	SECTION 8.4 - AMENDMENT OR MODIFICATION
	SECTION 8.5 - DELEGATION
	SECTION 8.6 – CHOICE OF FORUM/JURISDICTION AND CHOICE OF LAW
	SECTION 8.7 - FINAL AGREEMENT

	Exhibit A - Channel Offerings
	Exhibit B - Customer Service Regulations
	Exhibit C - Privacy Laws
	Exhibit D - Current Schedule of Rates and Charges
	Exhibit E - Form of Annual Report

	SB Packet 8 2 2021
	pfas 
	FW_ CDC_ATSDR Pease Health Study - Assistance requested
	Pease Study-Community-Factsheet-H
	Pease Yard sign pic 2

	Joe Johnson SB Memo and application


	Heritage Commission: 
	Zoning Board of Adjustment: 
	Planning Board: 
	Public Works Commission: 
	Conservation Commission: 
	Recreation Commission: 
	Stratham Fair Committee: 
	Energy Commission: 
	Exeter Squamscott River Advisory Committee: 
	Rockingham Planning Commission: X
	Pedestrian  Cyclist Advocacy Committee: 
	Other: 
	Committee Name: 
	Applicant Name print: Joseph Johnson
	Phone: 603-686-6276
	Address: 47 Tansy Ave
	Email: jjohnson@gpinet.com
	YES: X
	NO: 
	Number of Years as a Resident: 20
	committee indicated above because 1: I have a strong interest in transportation related to all modes...vehicles, pedestrians and 

bicyclists.  Not only do I have an interest in the local transportation issues/concerns in 
	I feel the following experience and background qualifies me for this position 1: As a civil engineer I work on the design and coordination of a wide variety of transportation 

projects including traffic calming, intersection design, corridor projects, multi-use paths,

	Date: 07/12/2021


